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Chairman’s
Report

On behalf of members of the Board of Directors,
it gives me pleasure to present to you the Annual
Report for the fiscal year ended 31/12/2015.
I start this report by highlighting the major indicators,
which reflect the activities and businesses of the
bank during 2015.

First: Lending Activity
1 Approved Loans
The lending activity of the bank has grown
during 2015 in terms of approved loans. The
Bank approved loans worth of RO 46.101
million compared to RO 42.351 million in 2014;
a growth by RO 3.750 million or 9%. On the
other side, the number of loans approved
during 2015 decreased to 4426 compared to
4642 in 2014.
2 Loan Disbursement
As for the disbursement of the approved loans,
the value of the loans disbursed in 2015 stood
at RO 43.235 million or 67% of the amount
estimated in 2015 budget. It should be noted
that the estimates in 2015 budget crossed the
value of the actual loans in 2014 by RO 22.523
million or a growth of 54%.
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It should be noted as well that the total value
of the loans disbursed by the bank include the
working capital loans (operational loans), which are
included as part of the head office portfolio. The
value of these loans stood at RO 10.445 million or
44% of the total value of the loans disbursed by
the head office or 24% of the total value of loans
disbursed by the bank in general.
3 Collection
The bank continued its collection endeavors
in 2015 and managed to recover RO 42.661
million compared to RO 45.590 million in 2014;
a difference of RO 1.990 million or -4%.

Second: The Non-Performing Loans
1 Past Dues & NPL
The past dues have declined significantly over
the past five years from 10.3% in 2011 to 7%
in 2015. Similarly, the NPL declined over the
past five years to 11.4% in 2015 compared to
16.7% in 2011.
2 Provisions
The provision requirement witnessed a
remarkable decline to RO 8.869 million in 2015;
a decline by RO 2.804 million or 24% less
compared to 2014.

Third: The Financial Condition
The statement of comprehensive income, as
shown in the bank’s financial statement for the
year ended 31/12/2015, show that the bank has
posted RO 4,200,807 as net profits compared to
RO 6,806,889 in 2014.

Fourth: Strategy and Development
Program
By the end of 2015, five years have passed on the
implementation of the recommendations of the new
strategy. These recommendations were consistent
with the general framework of the strategic aims
of the bank. These aims focus on expanding and
developing the services provided by the bank to the
different development sectors, which are included
in the approved policies of the bank.
The Bank is looking forward to develop its
borrowing activity in the future to include the major
and infrastructure loans. This trend is in line with
the new proposed strategy of the bank whose
approval will coincide with the issuance of a new
royal decree amending the loan cap of the bank and
adding new activities and sectors to its operations.
In this connection, it should be noted that a
number of planned projects have been already
implemented such as updating the manuals,
evaluating business continuity plan, structuring
the work procedures – as part of the bank’s plan
to enhance its institutional aspects, which was
launched in 2011- in addition to other projects
related to updating the databases, MIS, reporting,
developing the e-services (through the website and
SMS) and automation of the banking operations.
On the other hand, the strategy includes a number
of development programs and plans including
the plan to enhance the roles of the branches
and developing them. This will be achieved by
taking necessary measures to set up permanent
premises for al Buraimi, Sohar and Salalah
branches. Implementation will start at the second
half of the year. Similarly and in a bid to standardize
the brand image of the bank branches, the designs
and specifications for the branches that were not
rehabilitated have been completed.
The bank attaches great importance to the
development of human resources systems. In this
connection, it has completed the new automated
system for human resources, which keeps pace
with the modern development in the field of human
resources.

The bank realizes that information technology
plays a key and pivotal role in developing the
services provided by the bank. To this end, in
2015 the bank continued its efforts to implement
the database, MIS, smart administrative reporting
system and e-platform for following up the
performance of the bank’s indicators. It also
expanded the automation of its banking operation
and widened the linkage with the Central Bank of
Oman systems to implement the cheque imaging
system, automation of the cheques and improving
services in the branches.
While designing its strategic programs and plans,
the bank attaches great importance to marketing
aspects. It has focused on participating in
specialized workshops, seminars, conferences and
exhibitions at the various economic zones, industrial
estates and OCCI branches at the different parts
of the Sultanate. The bank utilized such gatherings
to promote the bank’s wide range of products and
services offered for the SME sector.
In line with the constant efforts made by the bank
to meet the needs of the SMEs sector, in 2015, the
bank provided guarantees to the local banks as
part of the loan guarantee scheme which benefits
local entrepreneurs who do not have the required
capital or banking guarantees to finance their
ventures.
On the other hand, the bank continued its
management of the loan portfolio and the
government grants which include Al Rafd Fund
Portfolio, Agricultural and Fisheries Research
Development Fund and the Governmental Loans
& Grants.
At the end of this report, it gives me pleasure to
express utmost thanks and appreciation to His
Majesty Sultan Qaboos Bin Said and the wise
Omani government for the constant support and
care accorded to the bank. I would also like to
thank the Central Bank of Oman for its continuous
support. Thanks also to the executive management
for the effort it makes to translate the board’s
policies and programs into action plans.

Abdullah Bin Salem Al Salmi
Chairman
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Economic
Report

World Economy
Global growth fell short of expectations in 2015,
decelerating to 2.4 percent from 2.6 percent in
2014. The disappointing performance mainly
reflected a continued growth deceleration in
emerging and developing economies amid postcrisis lows in commodity prices, weaker capital
flows and subdued global trade.
Emerging market economies have been an engine
of global growth during the 2000s, especially after
the 2007-08 global financial crisis. However, times
are changing. Growth rates in several emerging
market economies have been declining since 2010.
The global economy will need to adapt to a new
period of more modest growth in large emerging
markets, characterized by lower commodity prices
and diminished flows of trade and capital.
Concerns about the growth outlook and prospects
of rising U.S. interest rates led to a tightening in
financing conditions for many developing countries
and contributed to a significant slowdown in
capital inflows in 2015. Commodity exporters, and
countries with heightened domestic challenges,
are especially affected. The widespread slowdown
in emerging market economies contributed to a
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contraction in global trade in the first half of the
year, adding headwinds to the global recovery. The
broad weakness in commodity prices in 2015 is
expected to persist in 2016, maintaining pressure
on commodity exporters while supporting real
income gains among importers.
Half of the 20 largest developing-country stock
markets saw plunges of 20 percent or more from
their 2015 peaks. Currencies of key commodity
exporters (including Brazil, Indonesia, Malaysia,
the Russian Federation, and South Africa), and
developing countries subject to heightened
political risk (including Brazil and Turkey) fell to
multi-year lows both against the U.S. dollar as well
as in trade-weighted terms.
The simultaneous slowing of four of the largest
emerging markets—Brazil, Russia, China, and
South Africa—poses the risk of spillover effects for
the rest of the world economy. Global ripples from
China’s slowdown are expected to be greatest but
weak growth in Russia sets back activity in other
countries in the region. Disappointing growth again
in the largest emerging markets, if combined with
new financial stress, could sharply reduce global
growth in 2016.

Global investors pulled about $52 billion from
emerging market equity and bond funds in the
third quarter of 2015, the largest quarterly outflow
on record.
The price of oil (simple average of Brent, Dubai, and
West Texas Intermediate) dropped below $40 per
barrel towards the end of 2015. Prices have been
driven lower by high stocks in OECD economies,
ample global supplies, and expectations of slower
global demand (particularly from large emerging
markets). U.S. crude oil production has begun to
decline due to lower investment and drilling but
was resilient for most of 2015. OPEC production
increased further, reaching a three year high, with
much of the increase coming from Saudi Arabia
and Iraq. A removal of sanctions following the
implementation of the Iran nuclear agreement
could increase Iranian oil exports by 0.5-0.7 million
barrels per day by 2016. Since other energy prices
are at least partially linked to oil prices, prices for
other energy products, including natural gas,
have also fallen. Conditions remain in place for
a protracted period of low commodity prices in
coming years. Oil prices are projected to average
$49 per barrel in 2016, and then rise only gradually.
Metal and agricultural prices are likely to edge up in
the range of 1-2 percent.
Global growth is poised to recover modestly, by
2.9 percent in 2016. Under the baseline scenario,
it is expected that China will steer its economy to
a more consumption and services-led growth and
the monetary policy tightening cycle in the United
States will proceed without undue turbulence; as
a consequence, global growth will see a modest
upturn.

GCC Economy
The year 2015 marked one of the worst years for
oil prices and resulting government revenues; the
backbone on which most of the GCC economies
ride. For the year now taking shape, three main risks
loom for the GCC economies: oil’s continuing slide,
the draining of liquidity, and China’s slowdown.
The GCC countries face the challenge of lower oil
prices from a position of strength. Prudent policies
over the past decade have enabled them to build up
financial buffers which avoid the need for a sudden

disruptive adjustment in fiscal policy. Nevertheless,
with low oil prices expected to persist for a number
of years, all GCC countries need to undertake some
degree of fiscal adjustment, although the size and
urgency of this adjustment varies across countries.
Well-planned fiscal consolidation strategies need
to be put in place.
This fiscal adjustment will depend on each
country’s specific situation. But the main elements
are common across countries: an expansion of
non-oil tax revenues; raising energy prices which
are still well below international norms; firm control
of current spending, particularly on public sector
wages; and a review of capital expenditures.
Reforms to strengthen the fiscal frameworks would
support these consolidation efforts.
The governments in the GCC, are under pressure
to cut spending and increase their non-oil revenue
to keep fiscal deficits from ballooning.
In its economic outlook for the Middle East, North
Africa and Central Asia, the International Monetary
Fund forecast that the six-member Gulf Cooperation Council will see gross domestic product
growth slow from 3.25 per cent in 2015 to 2.75
per cent in 2016. The report added that the GCC
countries average fiscal deficits are expected to
reach 13 per cent of GDP this year, with the region’s
largest economy, Saudi Arabia, facing a deficit of
21.6 per cent in 2015 and 19.4 per cent in 2016
Banking systems in the GCC generally appear wellplaced to weather lower oil prices, weaker growth,
and higher US interest rates. Nevertheless, as oil
revenues decrease, external financing conditions
tighten, and government debt issuance increases,
central banks will need to remain vigilant for
stresses in the system and provide liquidity to the
financial sector if needed.
In the banking sector, loss of deposit growth from oil
revenues coupled with governments drawing down
on their savings has led to short-term pressures on
the money market, leading to spurts in overnight
lending rates. Government borrowing (sovereign
bonds) has been on the rise, which could crowd
out the private sector and deprive them of credit
facilities.
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Reduced opportunities to lend amid an
environment of increasing short-term rates would
constrain net interest margins, and subsequently
lower profitability for GCC banks. This could in
turn affect spending by banks on other areas such
as technology, which is vital since the adoption of
newer facets of banking such as e-commerce and
m-commerce could open doors for tapping the
younger generation customers. A proxy to that is
the increase in credit default spreads.
The ultimate impact of the fall in liquidity will be
on the cost of capital, which will spike. Stock
market liquidity as characterised by stock turnover
ratio has fallen in the recent past, post the global
financial crisis.
China’s economy is facing multitude of risks, and
this is expected to have a domino effect on its
trading partners, primarily in the GCC, and global
markets at large. How China fares in 2016 will have
far-reaching consequences across the globe, and
especially in the GCC.

Oman Economy
The year 2015 marks the 45th anniversary of
the accession of His Majesty Sultan Qaboos bin
Said. While less hydrocarbons rich than its GCC
neighbours, an increased focus on diversification
is driving economic growth in the Sultanate. In its
eighth five-year plan (2011-15), the government
has increased spending on key infrastructure
projects, which is enhancing Oman’s status as
a logistics hub in the region. Expansion and
development of the three major ports at Salalah,
Duqm and Sohar are ongoing, and major upgrades
to the international airports in Muscat and Salalah
are also under way. In addition to this, the planned
National Railway Network is set to cover 2244 km
and will connect the Sultanate’s three port cities
with other GCC countries, while, trade agreements
with emerging Asian economies look set to boost
opportunities for Omani companies.
Oman’s GDP growth in 2015 is expected to have
reached 4.4%, according to IMF estimates, up
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from 2.9% in 2014 but down slightly on mid-year
forecasts of 4.6%.
Inflation remained subdued throughout 2015,
falling to a GCC-wide low of 0.43% year-on-year
(y-o-y) in October, as prices in headline categories,
such as food and beverages and transport and
utilities, flattened or declined late in the year.
2016 is set to be a year of necessary austerity for
Oman with the decline in government spending
will ripple through the economy as officials work to
keep the Sultanate’s economy on track.
The government is a major spender in any economy
which produces a multiplier effect. Any decline in
expenditure may mean reduction in investment
expenditure which constituted roughly 1/3rd of the
total budgeted public expenditure in 2015.
This results in lesser government projects in which
private companies can participate. All these may
lead to lower revenues, lesser profits and lesser
employment especially for companies which
depend on government projects. It may even
trigger a contraction in the economy consequent
to overall fall in demand.
The actual deficit for 2015 is expected to reach
OMR 4.5 billion. Expenditures in 2016 are budgeted
at 15.6 per cent less than in 2015, which was OMR
14.1 billion, while revenue estimates declined by
25.86 per cent, compared to the previous year’s
OMR 11.6 billion budget revenue estimates.
Government expenditures and revenues for 2016
are estimated at OMR 11.9 billion and OMR 8.6
billion, respectively, leading to an anticipated deficit
of OMR 3.3 billion.
Since the government finds it difficult to reduce its
social sector expenditures, which constitutes the
bulk of public expenditures, the axe may effectively
fall on investment in some of the forward-looking
programmes which were part of Vision- 2020.
The government may fill its revenue gap through
a number of options, such as borrowing, drawing
from reserves, and others.

The year 2016 will turn out to be a year of extreme
challenge, not only for Oman, but for many of the oil
exporting nations. Oil and gas revenues constitute
close to 75 per cent of the gross revenue and,
hence, drastic declines in oil prices translate into
drastic fall in revenues.
Further, the government cannot quickly reduce this
revenue gap, because increasing the contribution
to the non-oil sector is not easy.
At one end there will be an increase in retail oil
prices and increased taxes for corporations, which
translates into increases in the cost of operations
and, at the other end, there will be a fall in revenues
due to the contraction of business.
Oman has to develop specific strategies to attract
investors, and this has to be specific to sectors.
The current call is to shift focus to alternate income
sectors, which are independent and can be driven
and can be fast, such as opening up the tourism
sector, mining sector and manufacturing sector.
More focused approaches are needed to develop
the service industry, such as ports, ICT, healthcare,
education and logistics. In addition, there should
also be a concentrated effort in developing country-

specific strategies with other countries, enhancing
co-operation and trade and, in particular, easing
investment, regulations and offering incentives on
par with other GCC countries.
Oman’s banks remained on a sound footing in
2015. Commercial banks posted asset growth of
15.7% y-o-y as at the end of October, with total
assets rising to OMR 28.3bn ($73.6bn).
The government could look to the banking sector
to fund anticipated budget deficits in 2016 or 2017,
although such a move would likely tighten liquidity
conditions in the market and drive up borrowing
rates for the private sector.
In the short term at least, borrowing costs look
set to remain at their present levels, after the CBO
announced in mid-December that it had no plans
to revise benchmark rates.
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Technical
Report on
the Bank’s
Performance

Loans Approvals
The value of the loans approved by Oman Development Bank in 2015 has witnessed a reasonable growth.
The Bank approved loans worth of RO 46.101 million compared to RO 42.351 million in 2014; a growth by
RO 3.750 million or 9%. In terms of number of loans, the Bank approved 4,426 loans in 2015 compared to
4,642 loans in 2014; a decline of 216 loans.
The following table shows the distribution of loans by governorates.
Governorate

Nos.

%

RO’000

%

Muscat

445

10.1%

12,198

26.5%

South A ‘Sharqiyah

931

21.0%

7,769

16.9%

North Al Batinah

619

14.0%

6,210

13.5%

Dhofar

724

16.4%

4,846

10.5%

Dakhiliyah

181

4.1%

3,950

8.6%

South Al Batinah

340

7.7%

2,561

5.6%

Al Buraimi

239

5.4%

2,256

4.9%

North Al Sharqiyah

257

5.8%

2,170

4.7%

Al Dhahira

165

3.7%

1,992

4.3%

Musandam

281

6.3%

1,312

2.8%

Al Wusta

244

5.5%

836

1.8%

4,426

100.0%

46,101

100.0%

Total
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The approvals were through the18 branches of Oman Development Bank. The following table shows the
distribution of loans by branches.
Branch

Nos.

%

RO’000

%

Corporate

446

10.1%

26,352

57.2%

Al Kamil

451

10.2%

2,360

5.1%

Saham

369

8.3%

1,764

3.8%

Salalah

361

8.2%

1,465

3.2%

Ibra

258

5.8%

1,354

2.9%

Khasab

282

6.4%

1,315

2.9%

Sur

257

5.8%

1,202

2.6%

Muscat

144

3.3%

1,118

2.4%

Al Buraimi

238

5.4%

1,106

2.4%

Mirbat

337

7.6%

1,050

2.3%

Sohar

205

4.6%

1,050

2.3%

Nizwa

131

3.0%

981

2.1%

Al Rustaq

171

3.9%

974

2.1%

Mahout

250

5.6%

953

2.1%

Ibri

142

3.2%

947

2.1%

Mesanaa

135

3.1%

775

1.7%

Masirah

174

3.9%

690

1.5%

A’ Seeb

75

1.7%

646

1.4%

4,426

100.0%

46,101

100.0%

Total

The approvals by the corporate branch in 2015 includes 403 working capital loans worth RO 10.5 million
or 23% of the value of approvals.
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Technical Report on the Bank’s Performance (continued)
The following chart shows the distribution of the approved loans by branches (excluding the corporate
branch; which constitutes 57% of the total value of approvals).

A’ Seeb

646

Masirah

690

Musanaa

775

Ibri

947

Mahout

953

Al Rustaq

974

Nizwa

981

Sohar

1,050

Mirbat

1,050

Al Buraimi

1,106

Muscat

1,118

Sur

1,202

Khasab

1,315

Ibra

1,354

Salalah

1,465

Saham

1,764

Al Kamil

2,360
0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

(RO’000)

The value of loans approved by branches (RO’000)

2,500

The following table shows the loans that have been approved in 2015 in terms of economic sector.
Economic sector
Fisheries
Agriculture and animal wealth
Education and health services
Tourism, professional and general services
Manufacturing of Wood, Paper, Publication Houses, Furniture
and Metallurgic Industries
Manufacturing of Machinery, Electrical Equipment,
Communications and Transportation Equipment
Mining Industry, Building Materials, Basic Materials, Molding Industries
Textile, Leather and Footwear Industries
Foodstuff and Beverage Industry
Manufacturing of Chemicals, Petrochemicals and Oil industry
Total
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No of
loans
1,527
792
123
240

Amount in RO’000
Approved
%
Amounts
35%
6,930
18%
4,989
3%
4,444
5%
6,743

%
15%
11%
10%
15%

182

4%

3,513

8%

183

4%

2,518

5%

325
373
91
590
4,426

7%
8%
2%
13%
100%

8,405
1,237
2,869
4,452
46,101

18%
3%
6%
10%
100%

The number and value of loans as per the economic sectors for 2015.
No. of loans for each economic sector

1,800

1,744

1,600

1,527

1,400
1,200
1,000
792

800
600

363

400
200
0
Fisheries

Agriculture and
animal wealth

Industry

Services

The value loans for each sector (RO’000)

25000

22,994

Amount RO’000

20000

15000
,
11,187
10000
6,930
4,989

5000

0
Fisheries

Agriculture and
animal wealth

Industry

Services
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Technical Report on the Bank’s Performance (continued)

Oman Development Bank provides loans to different sectors including very small projects which include
up to RO 5,000 interest-free loans, the SMEs loans between RO 50,000 to RO 250,000 and the corporate
loans between RO 250,000 up to RO 1 million.
The following table shows the distribution of approved loans in 2015 as per products.
No. of
loans

Amount
RO’000

11

6,982

8

4,775

15

2,809

8

1,277

Startup loans, more than RO 5,000 up to RO 50,000

116

3,386

Expansion loans more than RO 5000 up to RO 50,000

114

2,446

Loans to small investors and craftsmen (up to RO 5,000)

721

2,893

3,018

10,974

415

10,558

4,426

46,101

Products
Startup loans more than RO 250,000
Expansion loans more than RO 250,000
Startup medium loans more than RO 50,000 up to RO 250,000
Expansion medium loans more than RO 50,000 up to RO 250,000

Loans to small investors and craftsmen (interest free) up to RO 5,000
Working Capital Loans
Total

The following chart shows the number of loans that have been approved in the last five years in terms of
numbers and amounts.
Approved Loans

60,000

51,301

Amount in RO’000

50,000
42,351

41,975

46,101

40,000
30,000

26,790

20,000
10,000
0
2011

2012

2013
Amount (RO’000)
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2014

2015

Disbursement of loans
The value of the loans disbursed in 2015 stood at RO 43.235 million (or 67% of the budget for the year). It
should be noted that the 2015 budget is more than the actual disbursed loans in 2014; +RO 22.523 million
or 54% growth.
The following chart provides a comparison of loans disbursed in the past five years.
Disbursed amounts RO’000
41,889
41,627

45,000

43,235

40,000

Amount RO’000

35,000
30,000

31,050
25,660

25,000
20,000
15,000
10,000
5,000
0
2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

Out of the disbursed amounts, RO 10.445 million is related to working capital loans provided by the
corporate branch or 44% of the total amount disbursed by the coroporate branch or 24% of the total
amount disbursed by the Bank.

Collection of Loans
In 2015, ODB managed to collect RO 42.661 million of principal amounts and interest; the targeted amount
by the bank was RO 43.6 million. The bank thus collected 98% of the targeted amount.
It should be noted that the collection budget for 2015 is less than the actual in 2014 or by RO 1.990 million (-4%).
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Technical Report on the Bank’s Performance (continued)
The following chart shows the collected amounts during the past five years.
Collected amounts (RO’000)

50,000

45,590

,
42,661

40,000
34,739
30,000

,
29,781
26,281

20,000

10,000

0
2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

As for the working capital loans by the corporate branch, the total amount collected is at RO 11.028 million
or 47% of the collection by the corporate branch or 26% of the gross collection by the Bank.

The status of loan portfolio
1. Gross Loan Portfolio
The total loan portfolio of the Bank as at the end of 2015 is RO 120.647 million; a decline by 1.3%
compared to the gross loan portfolio at the end of 2014, which was RO 122.188 million. The gross portfolio
at the end of 2015 is 3.4% more compared to the base year (2011).
The following charts show the gross loan portfolio (the principal and interests) and the number of loans over
the past five years.
Gross Loan Portfolio (RO’000)
125,000
122,975
,
122,188
,
120,647
120,000

113,678

115,000

110,000

108,894

105,000

100,000
2011
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2012

2013

2014

2015

No. of loans in the Loan Portfolio RO’000

20,500

20,106
19,821

20,000
19,542

19,516

19,500

19,000

18,872

18,500

18,000
2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2. Net Loan Portfolio
The net loan portfolio is the gross principal loans and the interests (net of provisions and reserve interest).
The following chart shows the net loan portfolio during the past five years.
Net Loan Portfolio

115,000

110,178

Amount RO’000

110,000

110,148
108,887

100,991

105,000
100,000
95,000

94,115

90,000
85,000
2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

The table shows that the net loan portfolio in 2015 is 1.2% more compared to the net loan portfolio in 2014
or 17% more compared to the base year (2011).
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Technical Report on the Bank’s Performance (continued)
3. Past dues
The following chart shows the rate of past dues (arrears) over the past five years. It should be noted that
the arrears does not necessarily mean the non-performing loans (classified as per the CBO classification).
It includes some unpaid balance for period not exceeding 89 days.
Rate of Arrears

12.0%
10.3%
10.0%

9.3%

9.2%
8.7%

8.0%

7.0%

6.0%
4.0%
2.0%
0.0%
2011

2012

2013
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4. Non Performing Loans
The Non-Performing Loans (NPL) decreased in the past five years to reach at 11.4% in 2015; a decline by
5.3% as shown in the following diagram.
Non Performing Loans
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2012
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2014
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5. Provision for loan losses
The total provision was RO 8.869 million in 2015; a reduction by RO 2.804 million or 24% compared
to 2014.
Provision for Principal
(RO’000)

Reserve Interest
(RO’000)

Total
(RO’000)

2015

5,768

3,101

8,869

2014

6,443

5,230

11,673

2013

6,481

4,702

11,183

2012

6,520

4,687

11,207

2011

7,906

5,225

13,131

Years

The following chart shows the changes in provision during the past five years

Total Provision
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Strategic
Initiatives

The year 2015 marks the fifth year of the
implementation of the new strategy which is in line
with the basic strategy of the bank. The strategy
focuses on expanding the services rendered by
Oman Development Bank through increasing
products and services to SMEs. It is expected that
Oman Development Bank will extend the coverage
to include bigger loans and to infrastructure
projects, especially Royal Decree is expected to be
amended increasing the loan upper limit.
A number of planned projects have been
completed including updating the procedure
manual, the evaluation of the business continuity
plan and restructuring work procedures as
part of the Bank’s plan in 2011 which is aimed
at enhancing its organizational capability. The
Bank also implemented a number of projects
related to updating its data, information system
and administrative reports. It also developed its
e-services through its website and SMSs and
automated its banking operations.
As for the strategy that has been developed, Oman
Development Bank adopted a policy for expansion
that allows it to be closer to its customers. The
Bank has plans to have permanent premises for its
branches in Buraimi, Salalah and Sohar.
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With regard to the Bank’s efforts to develop a
standard identity for all its branches, the Bank has
completed the designs for its branches which have
not been activated yet namely in Sur, Mahout and
Sohar.
As for the business continuity plan, which was
initiated in 2013, a test has been conducted during
the year to ensure the ability of the system to
overcome disaster. The outcome of the test proved
that the system is efficient. The Bank has studied
the effects on any disaster on its departments and
units. The test highlighted the need to have virtual
premises that can simulate the work environment
within ODB. Oman Development Bank plans to
organise workshops during the coming period on
its business continuity plan. The workshop will be
implemented in most departments and branches.
With regard to Oman Development Bank’s
endeavors to update and develop its human
resources systems, the Bank has implemented the
new technical system for human resources which
meets the current and future needs of the bank in
terms of human resources development. This will
enable the bank to get accurate and regularized
data on its staff members.

In terms of updating its IT systems, in 2015 Oman
Development Bank continued to implement the
project to update its database, information system
and smart reports. It also created a platform for
e-follow up for the processing of transactions. It
also expanded the automation of the banking
works and expanded the e-linkage with the CBO
systems to implement the e-scanner and cheque
automation system, which is linked to the payment
of post-dated cheques and improved banking
services at the branches.
On the marketing side, the Bank focused on taking
part in a number of specialized workshops, fairs,
seminars and conferences that were organized at
industrial estates, Oman Chamber of Commerce
and Industry. The events aimed at spreading
awareness of the services and facilities provided
by ODB to SMEs. The major events which Oman
Development Bank took part during the year
include:
• Organizing the second forum for beneficiaries of
the Bank’s facilities and the exhibition.
• Launching the book titled ‘Themar’, which
includes some success stories of some
successful value added projects that were
financed by the Bank. An exhibition was held at
the event. The book recounts the success story
of each participant.
• Participated in the SME forum which was held
at Oman International Exhibition Center.

Governorate during December to promote
services rendered by the Bank and OCCI.
The Bank also organized a number of events at the
industrial estates in different parts of the Sultanate
to promote the services and facilities rendered by
the Bank to SMEs.
In a bid to enhance the Bank’s presence in media,
a number of advertisements about the Bank’s
services and products were aired through the local
radio stations. The Bank also continued publishing
advertisements in local newspapers, specialized
magazines and social networks in a bid to maximize
awareness of the active and key role played by the
Bank to finance different economic sectors.
Oman Development Bank also issued a number of
publications, handouts and promotion materials on
its services and products.
In its efforts to support SMEs, Oman Development
Bank continued providing guarantees to local
banks as part of its program to guarantee the loans
of investors who do not have enough guarantees to
secure financing for their projects from commercial
banks.
Oman Development Bank, through its branches in
the Sultanate, continued its efforts in managing the
loan portfolio for Al Rafd Fund, the Fisheries and
Agriculture Researches Development Fund as well
as the government loans and grants.

• ‘Bandira Village’ Exhibition which was held at
Al Qurm Natural Park to promote home-based
SMEs in Oman and other GCC countries.
• Organizing a seminar for industrialists at KOM in
collaboration with the PASMES.
• Organizing a forum for bank managers in SEZD
to highlight the available business opportunities.
• The Omani Craft Industries Exhibition.
• The Oman Mining Exhibition and Conference at
Oman International Exhibition Center.
• Organizing the Investors Forum in Al Buraimi
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Strategic Initiatives (continued)
This is a summary of the major initiatives in 2016

The plan to develop IT at the bank includes:

1 Oman Development Bank’s Strategy 20162020

• Development of e-services

2 Improving Operations
3 Enhancing e-services
4 Human Resources Development
5 Enhance working capital products (including
agricultural/seasonal loans)
6 Expansion of the automated clearing and
collection system of checks, and collection
system of amounts through bank cards.
7 Opening of new branches and strengthen the
infrastructure of the branches.

• Providing e-services through internet to SMS.
• Update and amend the new system in addition
to adding New Commercial Modules.
• Completing the implementation
correspondence, document and
management system.

of the
meeting

• Completion of procurement system application,
warehouses and Fixed Asset Management and
Budget.
• Completing the Loan Workflow for Branches.

8 Diversifying the bank’s products and services.

• Completing the Data Warehouse and BI Tools.

9 Continuing the loan guarantee program.

• Completing the Operational Risk System

10 Continuing the registration of financial,
economic, accounting and record keeping
consultancy service offices.

• Completing the Provision System

11 Providing advice for SMEs.
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Corporate
Governance
Report
For the financial year
ended 31/12/2015

Pursuant to Royal Decree No. 18/2006, which has
amended the Royal Decree No.18/97 stipulating
the establishment of the Bank and its annex,
the bank was converted into a SAOC company.
Accordingly, ODB shall not be subject to the
Capital Market Authority’s (CMA) Circular No.
16/2003 issued on 30/7/2003 concerning the joint
stock company’s articles of association.
However, the Bank shall be subject to the
commercial companies’ law No. 74/4 and its
amendments, which grant the secretariat of
commercial register the authority to monitor and
supervise the work of closed joint stock companies.
In addition, ODB’s articles of association are in
conformity with the said articles as the Bank is 100%
owned by the Government of the Sultanate of Oman.
The Bank takes into consideration all the measures
related to implementing the Corporate Governance
Charter principles in force at the time of preparing
this report. The BoD ensured that the report is in
line with the corporate governance charter for the
joint stock companies issued in July 2015.
The report was prepared in accordance with
articles 26 & 27 of the CCG and is in direct relation
with the Board of Directors’ report included in
the ODB Annual Report for the year ended on
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31/12/2015. This report does not include any
financial statements of the bank.

(1) Basics of ODB Corporate
Governance
ODB is committed to implement the circular No.
BM/932 issued by the Central Bank of Oman
(CBO) on 4/2/2002 and CMA Circular No. 11/2002
concerning the Corporate Governance structure,
without prejudice to the provisions of Royal Decree
No. 18/97 of formation of the Oman Development
Bank, which was amended by the Royal Decree
No. 18/2006 and its annex.
The Bank adopts sound Corporate Governance
practices that are praised by all related parties.
Also, ODB is in the process of preparing and
developing its internal regulations. Following are
ODB’s prominent characteristics of corporate
governance:
1. The role and responsibilities of the Board
of Directors (BoD).
BoD is responsible for developing the operational
rules and regulations, direct and supervise the
management performance. Furthermore, the role
of BoD includes the following:

•

Drafting and developing policies.

•

Preparing the draft balance sheet.

•

Supervision of core businesses of the bank.

•

•

Overseeing policies implementation and
ensuring their compliance with laws and
regulations.

Preparing annual activities report for the
previous fiscal year.

•

Nurturing proper and ethical behavior
Internal Control
adequacy:

•

Ensure transparency and credibility in reporting
to Government authorities.

3.

Systems

and

their

•

Nurturing proper and ethical behavior.

•

Approving and implementing disclosure policy
and monitoring its compliance with regulatory
requirements.

•

Reviewing material transactions with the
related parties, which are not in the ordinary
course of business.

•

Nominating the members of the BoD
sub committees, specifying their roles,
responsibilities and authorities.

The BoD has set up an Audit Committee which
comprises three Directors. This committee
supervises the functions of the Internal Audit Unit
to ensure compliance with the directives of the
concerned authorities like State Audit Institution,
Central Bank of Oman, and Capital Market Authority
as well to ensure conformity with the approved
international audit systems and procedures

•

Appointment of General Manager and other
key executives for managerial level and
upwards, specify their roles, responsibilities,
powers and remuneration.

•

Evaluating the function of sub committees,
General Manager and key employees.

The BoD issued instructions to the executive
management that no transaction in the bank may
be processed by a single person. A minimum of
two persons should be involved in processing any
transaction. Similarly, there is sufficient control
exercised on IT security systems. In general, all the
BoD adopted administrative control measures are
adequate, practical and sufficient.

•

Approving interim
statements.

The compliance office regulation has been
approved by the bank and it is currently in force.

•

Reporting annually to the government about
the status of the bank and providing necessary
advice on the measures needed to promote
the bank’s performance.

•

and

annual

financial

Approving the estimated budget of the bank.

2. The role and responsibilities of the
Executive Management:
•

Manage the Bank’s operations in line with the
policies and strategies approved by BoD.

•

Assisting BoD in policy formulation.

•

Implementation of laws, regulations and
circulars that govern the bank business.

•

Implementation of BoD approved policies and
regulations.

•

Preparing detailed programs and procedures
required to implement the approved policies.

•

Preparing major contracts for projects
according to the business requirements.

(2) The Board of Directors
ODB is managed by a Board of Directors consisting
of a Chairman and five directors representing
the Ministries of Finance, National Economy,
Commerce & Industry and Agriculture & Fisheries.
Two experienced and qualified independent
members were nominated by the Annual General
Assembly - as per the provision of the Royal Decree
18/97 establishing ODB.

(3) The Audit Committee
The Committee has three members from among
the BoD members.
The Committee charter has been approved by the
BoD on 16/6/2003 vide the Resolution # 17/2003
amended by the Board Resolution # 22/2010
dated 10/1/2010.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
The main aims of the committee are:
The main duty of the committee is to assist the Board in supervising performance and carrying out its
obligations. The tasks include
1- Ensure the bank’s compliance with the laws, regulations and code of ethics developed by the Bank.
2- Maintain effective relationship between the board, the executive management, external auditors and
internal auditors.
3- Enhance communication with external auditors through effective communication with them, ensuring
their independence and ensuring that they are not affected by the Bank’s management.
Details of the directors’ attendance to the Audit Committee meetings during 2015
Meeting No.

Date

Mr. Hosni bin
Fouad Tubaileh

Mr. Sabir bin Said
Al Harbi

Mr. Ahmed bin Ali
al Shanfari

1st

28/1/2015

Present

Present

Present

2nd

26/3/2015

Present

Present

Present

3rd

14/10/2015

Present

Present

Present

4th

28/12/2015

Present

Present

Present

(4) Risk Management Committee
The committee comprises three board members.
Attendance of the board members for the Risk Management Committee meeting in 2015
Meeting No.

Date

Mr. Sabir Al Harbi

Dr. Abdullah
al Ma’awali

Mr. Ahmed bin Ali
al Shanfari

1st

28/1/2015

Present

Present

Present

2nd

4/5/2015

Present

Present

Present

3rd

14/10/2015

Present

Absent

Present

4th

30/11/2015

Present

Present

Present

(5) Remuneration
The following amounts were paid during 2015 to the Directors and the five senior staff of the Bank:
1-The sitting fees paid for the Board of Directors
The meeting

Amount paid

BoD Meeting

RO 18,800

Audit Committee Meetings

RO 3,000

Risk Management Committee Meetings

RO 2,750

Total
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RO 24,550

* The proposed remuneration for the Board of Directors for 2015 = RO 40,000
* The total amount of salaries and allowances of the top five senior staff during 2015 = RO 365,604
The fees and remunerations paid and proposed to the Board of Directors are in accordance with the
provisions of the Commercial Companies Law No. 4/74 and its amendments, and in particular, the
amendments stipulated by the provisions of Royal Decree No. 99/2005 promulgated on 28/11/2005.
The Board of Directors consisting of a chairman, and four members representing the public organizations
which are stated as members in the Royal decree, establishing the Bank and an independent experienced,
qualified member (all BoD members are qualified and of high and long experience).
Below is a list of the Board of Directors:
Independent members

Members nominated by their organizations

Sheikh Abdullah Bin Salem Al Salmi
Chairman

Mr. Hosni bin Fouad bin Abdullah Tubaileh
Deputy Chairman, Representative of the Ministry of Finance

Mr. Ahmed bin Ali al Shanfari

Dr. Abdullah bin Ali bin Zaher Al Hinai
Board Member and Representative of the Ministry of
Commerce & Industry
Dr. Abdullah bin Ali Al Ma’awali
Board Member and Representative of the Ministry of
Agriculture and Fisheries
Mr. Sabir bin Said bin Rashid Al Harbi
Former - Ministry of National Economy

Activities of the Board during 2015
Members of the Board

Dates of the Board Meetings
1st
28/1

2nd
11/2

3rd
29/3

4th
4/5

5th
13/7

6th
7th
21/10 01/12

*

*

*

*

Present

Present Present

2 Hosni bin Fouad bin Abdullah Tubaileh

Present

Present

Present

Present

Present

Present Present

3 Ahmed bin Ali al Shanfari

Present

Present

Present

Present

Not Present

Present Present

4 Abdullah bin Ali bin Zaher Al Hinai

Present

Present

Present

Present

Not Present

Present Present

5 Sabir bin Said bin Rashid Al Harbi

Present

Present

Present

Present

Present

Not
Present
Present

6 Abdullah bin Ali Al Ma’awali

Present

Present

Present

Present

Present

Not
Present
Present

1 Sheikh Abdullah bin Salem Al Salmi

* Sheikh Abdullah bin Salem Al Salmi has been appointed as the chairman of the board as per the Council of Ministers’ Resolution #
17/2015 dated 4/5/2015

(6) Details of non-compliance with the regulations and penalties
During the year 2015, the Bank was in full compliance with the requirements of regulatory authorities
including the Financial and Administrative State Audit Institution, the Central Bank of Oman, and Capital
Market Authority. No penalties or substantial criticism was received from any authority during the past three
years, except few observations by the Financial and Administrative State Audit Institution and CBO’s regular
inspection report. The Bank is addressing these remarks constantly.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
(7) Means of communication with the shareholders (the government) and
investors
Direct contact, as well as publishing the bank’s periodic financial statements and results in two major Arabic
and English magazines and through electronic channels to the Capital Market Authority.

(8) Professional profile of the statutory auditor for 2015
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu is a renowned international Auditing & Consultancy firm. With a globally connected
network of member firms in more than 150 countries, Deloitte brings world-class capabilities and deep local
expertise to help clients succeed wherever they operate. Deloitte’s more than 200,000 professionals are
committed to becoming the standard of excellence.
Deloitte & Touche ME is a member of Deloitte & Touche Limited, the first specialized auditing firm to be
established in the ME. The company operates in the region since 85 years. The company is a leader in
providing specialized services related to taxes, auditing, consultancy and financial services through 26
offices in 15 countries. The company has more than 2500 partners, directors and employees. The Oman
office comprises 3 partners and more than 100 professionals.

(9) Compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance
This bank is in full compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance, except for the articles not applicable
due to the fact that the bank is fully owned by the Government of Oman.

Issued on March 2016.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2015
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Statement of financial position
at 31 December 2015
Notes

2015

2014

RO

RO

744,938

381,061

ASSETS
Cash and balances with Central Bank of Oman
Balances due from other banks

5

24,803,898

22,869,230

Loans and advances to customers

6

110,148,490

108,886,932

Investments

7

27,963,908

28,865,558

Staff housing loans

8

1,568,354

1,479,071

Receivable from Government

9

4,227,485

500,116

Property and equipment

10

1,434,730

1,571,159

Prepayments and other receivables

11

687,211

347,522

171,579,014

164,900,649

Total assets
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Liabilities
Customer deposits (Izdihar)

12

622,341

2,004,410

Payable to Government

13

1,575,602

2,073,693

Payables and accruals

14

7,622,758

3,410,469

9,820,701

7,488,572

Total Liabilities
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital

16

100,000,000

100,000,000

Legal reserve

17

6,580,981

6,160,900

Special reserve

18

5,541,048

5,541,048

818,603

673,174

48,817,681

45,036,955

Total shareholders’ equity

161,758,313

157,412,077

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

171,579,014

164,900,649

1.618

1.574

Investment revaluation reserve
Retained earnings

Net assets value per share
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2015
Notes

Interest income

19

Interest expense
Net interest income

2015

2014

RO

RO

7,658,995

10,936,654

(12,404)

(39,260)

7,646,591

10,897,394

Fees, commission and other income

20

4,205,768

2,709,970

Investment income / (loss) – net

21

388,827

(171,547)

12,241,186

13,435,817

(7,496,817)

(6,678,478)

Operating profit

4,744,369

6,757,339

Net movement in allowance for impaired loans

(548,123)

(23,006)

4,561

72,556

4,200,807

6,806,889

145,429

(721,130)

4,346,236

6,085,759

0.042

0.068

Net operating income
General and administrative expenses

Net movement in allowance for customer relationship accounts

22

11

Net profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Change in fair value of available for sale investments
Total comprehensive income for the year
Basic and diluted earnings per share
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2015

Share
capital
RO

Investment
Legal revaluation
reserve
reserve
RO

RO

Special
reserve

Retained
earnings

Total

RO

RO

RO

At 1 January 2014

100,000,000 5,480,211

1,394,304 5,541,048 38,910,755 151,326,318

Profit for the year

-

-

-

-

6,806,889

6,806,889

Changes in fair value of
investments

-

-

(721,130)

-

-

(721,130)

Total comprehensive
income

-

-

(721,130)

-

6,806,889

6,085,759

Transfer to legal reserve

-

680,689

-

-

(680,689)

-

At 1 January 2015

100,000,000 6,160,900

Profit for the year

-

-

-

-

4,200,807

4,200,807

Changes in fair value of
investments

-

-

145,429

-

-

145,429

Total comprehensive
income

-

-

145,429

-

4,200,807

4,346,236

Transfer to legal reserve

-

420,081

-

-

(420,081)

-

As of 31 December 2015 100,000,000 6,580,981

673,174 5,541,048 45,036,955 157,412,077

818,603 5,541,048 48,817,681 161,758,313

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2015
2015

2014

RO

RO

4,200,807

6,806,889

Depreciation of property and equipment

414,505

333,766

Net movement in allowance for impaired loans

548,123

23,006

(8,588)

(15,894)

(729,394)

(1,176,462)

340,567

1,348,009

4,561

(72,556)

4,770,581

7,246,758

(1,809,681)

1,268,113

(89,283)

(166,683)

(344,250)

351,247

Customer deposit (Izdihar)

(1,382,069)

(802,832)

Receivable / (payable) to Government (net)

(4,225,460)

(1,354,682)

4,212,289

(135,041)

1,132,127

6,406,880

(281,095)

(424,606)

11,607

15,947

729,394

1,176,462

(796,520)

(255,438)

Movement in investments

706,512

(5,513,923)

Net cash from / (used) in investing activities

369,898

(5,001,558)

Operating activities
Net profit for the year
Adjustments:

Gain on disposal of property and equipment
Realised investment income – net
Change in fair value of held for trading investment
Net movement in allowance for customer relationship accounts
Operating profit before changes in operating assets and liabilities
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Loans and advances to customers
Staff housing loans
Prepayments and other receivables

Payables and accruals
Net cash provided by operating activities
Investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment
Realised investment income – net
Balances with investment managers

1,502,025

1,405,322

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

22,663,616

21,258,294

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

24,165,641

22,663,616

Cash and balances with Central Bank of Oman

744,938

381,061

Capital Deposit with Central Bank of Oman

(50,000)

(50,000)

Balances due from other banks (note 5)

24,803,898

22,869,230

Balances with investment managers (note 5)

(1,333,195)

(536,675)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

24,165,641

22,663,616

Net changes in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015

1. Legal status and principal activities
Oman Development Bank SAOC (the Bank) was established under the Royal Decree Number 18/97,
as a joint stock company on 9 April 1997.
The Bank is principally engaged in providing loans to development projects, including the activities of
agriculture, fisheries, livestock, industrial resources, information technology, educational colleges, health,
tourism, professional activities, workshops and traditional industrial craftsmanship in the Sultanate of
Oman by granting loans, administering grants and subsidies, participating in share capital to companies
registered under the Commercial Companies Law of Oman and other enterprises, and carrying out other
banking activities. In accordance with its objectives, interest on loans and advances is charged to the
customers at a rate which is subsidized by the Government of the Sultanate of Oman. In addition the
Bank also acts as agent on behalf of the Government of Sultanate of Oman in respect of:
a) the distribution and collection of Government soft loans;
a) the disbursement of amounts from the Agriculture and Fisheries Development Fund; and
b) the disbursement and collection of Al RAFAD Fund (SANAD Fund) Loans.
Under the Royal Decree establishing the Bank, the Government of the Sultanate of Oman guarantees
its borrowings of up to four times the capital and general reserves of the Bank.
Royal Decree No. 18/2006 was issued in the year 2006 by which new avenues were opened for the
bank in terms of financial lending limits, allowing the bank to sanction soft loans up to One million Rials
Omani for a single project at a stipulated interest rate of 3% per year. The maximum limit of soft loans
can be Three million Rials Omani to Joint Stock Companies that have offered 40% of their shares for
public subscription.
The new Royal Decree also allows the bank to provide non-subsidised working capital loans to new
and existing projects.
All the soft loans which were earlier handled by the Financial Support Committee of the Ministry of
Commerce and Industry have been delegated to Oman Development Bank SAOC

2. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs)
2.1 New and revised IFRSs applied with no material effect on the combined financial statements
The following new and revised IFRSs, which became effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2015, have been adopted in these financial statements. The application of these revised IFRSs
has not had any material impact on the amounts reported for the current and prior years but may affect
the accounting for future transactions or arrangements.
•		 Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010 - 2012 Cycle that includes amendments to IFRS 2, IFRS 3,
IFRS 8, IFRS 13, IAS 16, IAS 24 and IAS 38.
•		 Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011 - 2013 Cycle that includes amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 3,
IFRS 13 and IAS 40.
•		 Amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits to clarify the requirements that relate to how contributions
from employees or third parties that are linked to service should be attributed to periods of service.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)
2. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) (continued)
2.2 New and revised IFRS in issue but not yet effective
The Company has not yet applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective:
New and revised IFRSs

Effective for annual
periods beginning
on or after

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts

1 January 2016

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements relating to
Disclosure initiative

1 January 2016

Amendments to IFRS 11 Joint arrangements relating to accounting for
acquisitions of interests in joint operations

1 January 2016

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible
Assets relating to clarification of acceptable methods of depreciation and
amortisation

1 January 2016

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 41 Agriculture
relating to bearer plants

1 January 2016

Amendments to IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements relating to accounting
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates to be optionally
accounted for using the equity method in separate financial statements

1 January 2016

Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 12
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities and IAS 28 Investment in Associates
and Joint Ventures relating to applying the consolidation exception for
investment entities

1 January 2016

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012 - 2014 Cycle covering amendments to
IFRS 5, IFRS 7, IAS 19 and IAS 34

1 January 2016
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)
2. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) (continued)
2.2 New and revised IFRS in issue but not yet effective (continued)
New and revised IFRSs

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (revised versions in 2009, 2010, 2013 and 2014)

Effective for annual
periods beginning
on or after
1 January 2018

IFRS 9 issued in November 2009 introduced new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets. IFRS 9 was subsequently
amended in October 2010 to include requirements for the classification and
measurement of financial liabilities and for derecognition, and in November
2013 to include the new requirements for general hedge accounting. Another
revised version of IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014 mainly to include a)
impairment requirements for financial assets and b) limited amendments to
the classification and measurement requirements by introducing a ‘fair value
through other comprehensive income’ (FVTOCI) measurement category for
certain simple debt instruments.
A finalised version of IFRS 9 which contains accounting requirements for
financial instruments, replacing IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement. The standard contains requirements in the following areas:
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•

Classification and measurement: Financial assets are classified
by reference to the business model within which they are held and
their contractual cash flow characteristics. The 2014 version of IFRS 9
introduces a ‘fair value through other comprehensive income’ category
for certain debt instruments. Financial liabilities are classified in a similar
manner to under IAS 39, however there are differences in the requirements
applying to the measurement of an entity’s own credit risk.

•

Impairment: The 2014 version of IFRS 9 introduces an ‘expected credit
loss’ model for the measurement of the impairment of financial assets, so
it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before a credit
loss is recognised.

•

Hedge accounting: Introduces a new hedge accounting model that
is designed to be more closely aligned with how entities undertake risk
management activities when hedging financial and non-financial risk
exposures.

•

Derecognition: The requirements for the derecognition of financial assets
and liabilities are carried forward from IAS 39.

Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures relating to
disclosures about the initial application of IFRS 9

When IFRS 9 is first
applied

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures relating to the additional hedge
accounting disclosures (and consequential amendments) resulting from the
introduction of the hedge accounting chapter in IFRS 9

When IFRS 9 is first
applied
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)
2. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) (continued)
2.2 New and revised IFRS in issue but not yet effective (continued)
New and revised IFRSs

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Effective for annual
periods beginning
on or after
1 January 2018

In May 2014, IFRS 15 was issued which established a single comprehensive
model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with
customers. IFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance
including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related
interpretations when it becomes effective.
The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity should recognize revenue to
depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the standard introduces a
5-step approach to revenue recognition:
•

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer.

•

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract.

•

Step 3: Determine the transaction price.

•

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the
contract.

•

Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance
obligation.

Under IFRS 15, an entity recognises when (or as) a performance obligation is
satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive
guidance has been added in IFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios.
Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS 15.
IFRS 16 Leases

1 January 2019

IFRS 16 specifies how an IFRS reporter will recognise, measure, present and
disclose leases. The standard provides a single lessee accounting model,
requiring lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases unless the
lease term is 12 months or less or the underlying asset has a low value. Lessors
continue to classify leases as operating or finance, with IFRS 16’s approach to
lessor accounting substantially unchanged from its predecessor, IAS 17.
Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (2011) relating to the treatment
of the sale or contribution of assets from and investor to its associate or joint
venture

Effective date deferred
indefinitely
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)
2. Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) (continued)
2.2 New and revised IFRS in issue but not yet effective (continued)
Management anticipates that these new and revised standards, interpretations and amendments will be
adopted in the Bank’s financial statements for the year beginning 1 January 2016 or as and when they
are applicable and adoption of these new standards, interpretations and amendments, except for IFRS
9, may have no material impact on the financial statements of the Bank in the period of initial application.
Management anticipates that IFRS 9 will be adopted in the Bank’s financial statements for the annual
year beginning 1 January 2018. The application of IFRS 9 may has significant impact on amounts
reported and disclosures made in the Bank’s financial statements in respect of the Bank’s financial
assets and financial liabilities. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of effects
of the application of these standards until the Bank performs a detailed review.

3. Summary of significant accounting policies
Financial statements preparation framework
Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting
Standards as applicable.
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis except for quoted
investments in equity securities which are measure at fair values.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Bank’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 4.
Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances to customers are measured at amortised cost less impairment losses. A credit
risk provision for loan impairment is established if there is objective evidence that the Bank will not be
able to collect all amounts due. The amount of provision is the difference between the carrying amount
and the recoverable amount, being the present value of expected cash flows discounted at the interest
rate applicable at inception, including amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral. The losses
arising from impairment are recognized in the income statement in ‘credit loss expense’.
Available-for-sale investments
Available-for-sale investments are initially recognised at cost, which includes transaction costs, and
are, in general, subsequently carried at fair value. Available-for-sale equity investments that do not have
a quoted market price in an active market, and for which other methods of reasonably estimating fair
value are inappropriate, are measured at cost, as reduced by allowances for estimated impairment.
Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of available for sale investments are
recognized directly in equity until subsequent derecognition or impairment when the Bank transfer the
cumulative gain or loss to the income statement.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Investments originated by the bank
Investment securities with fixed or determinable payments and procured directly from the issuer are
classified as originated by the bank, and are stated at amortized cost. Amortised cost is calculated by
taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition which is amortised on a systematic basis
to maturity using the effective interest method.
Investments carried at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, has two sub categories namely financial assets held
for trading and those designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception. Investments typically
bought with the intention to sell in the near future are classified as held for trading. For investments
designated as at fair value through profit or loss, the following criteria must be met:
• the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise
arise from measuring the assets or liabilities or recognising gains or losses on them on a different
basis; or
• the assets and liabilities are part of a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both which are
managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented
risk management or investment strategy; or
• The financial instrument contains an embedded derivative, unless the embedded derivative does
not significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear, with little or no analysis, that it would not be
separately recorded.
These investments are initially recorded at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, these investments
are remeasured at fair value. Fair value adjustments and realised gain and loss are recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income.
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
The fair value of available-for-sale investments is based on quoted market prices at the financial position
date. For unquoted investments, the fair value approximates their carrying value.
The fair value of short term assets and liabilities are estimated to be equal to their carrying amounts.
The fair values of loans and advances approximates to the book value adjusted for provision against
impaired loans.
The fair value of staff housing loans has been determined by using discounting cash flow techniques
using market rates currently offered for such facilities.
Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of
financial position only when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts and the
bank intends to settle either on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of financial assets
The Bank assesses at each statement of financial position date whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets
is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment
as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’)
and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Objective evidence that a financial asset or
group of assets is impaired includes observable data that comes to the attention of the Bank about the
following loss events:
(i) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;
(ii) a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
(iii) the Bank granting to the borrower, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider;
(iv it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
(v) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or
(vi) observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows
from a group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease
cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the group, including:
– adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the group; or
– national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the group.
The Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets
that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Bank determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually
assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets
with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are
individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognized
are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at amortised
cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses
that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The
carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of
the loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. If a loan has a variable interest rate,
the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined
under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Bank may measure impairment on the basis of an
instrument’s fair value using an observable market price.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Property and equipment
Property and equipment held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes, are initially recognized at their cost being their purchase price plus any other costs directly
attributable to bringing the assets to the location and condition necessary for them to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management.
After initial recognition, the property and equipment are carried, in the statement of financial position, at
their cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment. The depreciation charge
for each period is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. Depreciation is calculated
on a straight line basis, which reflects the pattern in which the asset’s future economic benefits are
expected to be consumed by the Bank over the estimated useful life of the assets as follows:
Years
Buildings

25

Vehicles

5

Furniture and fixtures and office equipment

4-5

Land is not depreciated as it is deemed to have an indefinite life.
The depreciation charge for each period is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year-end, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
The carrying values of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes
in the circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication of
impairment exists, impairments losses are recorded in the statement of comprehensive income.
On the subsequent derecognition (sale or retirement) of the property and equipment, the resultant gain
or loss, being the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount, is
included in the statement of comprehensive income.
Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income on accrual
basis, taking account of the principal outstanding and the rate applicable. If the recovery of the interest
income is doubtful, its recognition in the statement of comprehensive income is deferred until it is
received.
Commission and fees
Commission and fees are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income at the time of effecting
the transaction to which they relate.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Dividend
Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive income is established.
Provisions
Provisions are present obligations (legal or constructive) resulted from past events, the settlement of
the obligations is probable and the amount of those obligations can be estimated reliably. The amount
recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation
at the statement of financial position date, that is, the amount that the Bank would rationally pay to
settle the obligation at the statement of financial position date or to transfer it to a third party.
Provisions reviewed and adjusted at each statement of financial position date. If outflows, to settle the
provisions, are no longer probable, reverse of the provision is recorded as income. Provisions are only
used for the purpose for which they were originally recognized.
Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities are possible obligations depending on whether some uncertain future events occur,
or they are present obligations but payments are not probable or the amounts cannot be measured
reliably. Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the financial statements.
Employees’ terminal benefit
The terminal benefits for all eligible Omani employees are provided in accordance with Social Insurance
Law of 1991. For all others, provision for employees’ terminal benefits is based on the liability which
would arise in accordance with the terms of the employment and the Labour Laws of the Sultanate of
Oman.
Deposits
All money market and customer deposits are carried at amortised cost.
Translation of foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Rials Omani at the rates prevailing on the date of
the transactions. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to Omani Rials
at year end rates. Any gain or loss arising from changes in exchange rates subsequent to the date of
the transaction is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income.
Fiduciary assets
Assets held in trust or in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Bank and accordingly are
not included in these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of preparing the statement of cash flows, cash equivalents comprises of highly liquid
assets which are readily convertible into known amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of change in value. Cash and cash equivalents comprise all balances with Central Bank of Oman
and deposits with banks and other financial institutions, except for balances held by investment funds
managers, with a maturity of three months or less from the date of placement.
Directors’ remuneration
Directors’ remuneration is calculated in accordance with the Commercial Companies Law of 1974, as
amended, of the Sultanate of Oman.

4. Use of estimates
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amount of financial assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the resultant provisions and changes in fair value for the year. Such estimates are necessarily
based on assumptions about factors involving varying, and possibly significant, degrees of judgment
and uncertainty and actual results may differ from management’s estimates resulting in future changes
in estimated assets and liabilities.
Significant areas where the management has used estimates, assumption or exercised judgements are
as follows:
Impairment losses on loans and advances
The Bank reviews its loan portfolios to assess impairment on a quarterly basis. In determining whether
an impairment loss should be recorded in the statement of comprehensive income, the Bank makes
judgements as to whether there is any observable data indicating an impairment followed by measurable
decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be
identified within that portfolio. This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been
an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers and or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults on assets in the Bank.
Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics
and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash
flows. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future
cash flows are reviewed periodically to reduce any difference between loss estimates and actual
loss experience. For individually significant loans and advances which are impaired, the necessary
impairment loss is considered based on the future cash flow estimates.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

4. Use of estimates (continued)
Individually significant loans and advances which are not impaired and all individually insignificant loans
and advances are then assessed collectively considering historical experience and observable data on
a portfolio basis, in groups of assets with similar risk characteristics to determine whether collective
impairment loss to be made. In determining collective impairment loss, the Bank takes into account
several factors including credit quality, concentration risk, levels of past due, sector performance, and
available collateral and macro-economic conditions.
Impairment of available-for-sale equity instruments
The Bank determines that available-for-sale equity investments are impaired when there has been a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost. This determination of what is significant
or prolonged requires judgement. In making this judgement, management evaluates among other
factors, the normal volatility in share price. In addition, impairment may be appropriate when there
is evidence of deterioration in the financial health of the investee, industry and sector performance,
changes in technology and operational and financing cash flows.

5. Balances due from other banks

Current accounts

2015

2014

RO

RO

24,803,898

22,869,230

Current accounts include an amount of RO 1,333,195 held by investment managers as of 31 December
2015 (2014 - RO 536,675)
All Bank balances are current accounts placed with commercial banks located in the Sultanate of
Oman.

6. Loans and advances to customers

Loans and advances to customers

2014

RO

RO

113,291,557

112,362,017

Loan against trust receipts and working capital loans

3,940,635

4,317,451

Interest receivable

3,414,849

5,508,297

120,647,041

122,187,765

Allowances for impaired debts (note 6)

(7,397,608)

(8,071,064)

Reserved interest (note 6)

(3,100,943)

(5,229,769)

110,148,490

108,886,932

Gross loans and advances

48

2015

| ANNUAL REPORT 2015

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

6. Loans and advances to customers (continued)
Loans and advances were granted to projects within the Sultanate of Oman. The concentration of
gross loans and advances by sector is as follows:
2015

2014

RO

RO

Agriculture and fisheries

40,885,939

41,973,964

Services

38,993,289

34,582,125

Manufacturing

14,847,632

16,062,402

Mining and quarrying

25,678,221

29,569,274

241,960

-

120,647,041

122,187,765

Economic sector

Others

(a) Allowances for impairment losses for loans and advances to customers is as follows:
2015

2014

RO

RO

8,071,064

8,095,466

28,138

-

2,069,334

1,773,937

Released during the year

(1,521,211)

(1,750,931)

Written off during the year

(1,249,717)

(47,408)

7,397,608

8,071,064

Opening balance
Staff housing loan provisions brought forward
Charge for the year

Loans and advances within 1 to 89 days category (“Standard” and “Special mentioned”) are not
impaired. The bank provides collective provision for the non-impaired loans. The collective provision as
of December 31, 2015 is RO 1,629,261 (2014 - RO 1,627,577).
(b) Reserved interest for loans and advances to customers is as follows:

Opening balance
Charge for the year
Released during the year
Written off during the year

2015

2014

RO

RO

5,229,769

4,701,743

559,122

706,938

(407,660)

(177,402)

(2,280,288)

(1,510)

3,100,943

5,229,769

(c) At 31 December 2015, the total outstanding amount of non-performing loans and advances on
which interest has been reserved amounted to RO 13,696,253 (2014: RO 15,535,329).
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for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

6. Loans and advances to customers (continued)
(d) A further analysis of above is set out below:
2015

2014

RO

RO

100,717,059

99,987,717

6,233,729

6,664,719

13,696,253

15,535,329

Gross loans and advances

120,647,041

122,187,765

Less: impairment allowance

(10,498,551)

(13,300,833)

110,148,490

108,886,932

Large
projects

Small and
medium
projects

Total

RO

RO

RO

1,292,541

1,802,795

3,095,336

817,005

1,612,198

2,429,203

5,087,065

3,084,649

8,171,714

7,196,611

6,499,642

13,696,253

98,593

2,078,550

2,177,143

480,048

1,422,149

1,902,197

8,537,468

2,918,521

11,455,989

9,116,109

6,419,220

15,535,329

Neither past due nor impaired
Past due but not impaired
Impaired

(e) Gross impaired loans

31 December 2015

Substandard
Doubtful
Loss

31 December 2014
Substandard
Doubtful
Loss

(f) Fair value of qualified collaterals - large projects RO 71,424,728 against loan outstanding of RO
57,911,967 (2014: RO 69,649,479 against loan outstanding of RO 59,663,268).
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7. Investments
2015

2014

RO

RO

Available-for-sale

1,566,719

1,421,290

Held for trading

4,802,552

5,660,600

21,594,637

21,783,668

27,963,908

28,865,558

1,421,290

2,142,420

145,429

(721,130)

1,566,719

1,421,290

Originated by bank

Available-for-sale investments
At beginning of the year
Change in fair value of available-for-sale investments
At end of the year
Quoted investments
The analysis of market value based on the most recent market price and cost of quoted available-forsale investments by economic sector is as follows:
Market value

Cost

2015

2014

2015

2014

RO

RO

RO

RO

Banking and investment

845,895

585,114

351,634

351,634

Industrial

671,457

781,524

382,400

382,400

Services

48,367

53,652

13,082

13,082

1,565,719

1,420,290

747,116

747,116

Unquoted investments
Included in available-for-sale investments is RO 1,000 (2014 – RO 1,000) being the value of unquoted
Omani shares.
Details of the Bank’s available-for-sale investments for which the Bank’s holding exceeds 10% of the
market value of the Bank’s available-for-sale investment portfolio, are as follows:
Investment
portfolio
%

No of
shares

Market value

Cost

2015

2014

2015

2014

RO

RO

RO

RO

Quoted equity and fund
investments
Oman National Investment
Corporation Holding SAOG

46.00 1,626,491 718,909 448,260

465,541 465,541

Oman Cement Company SAOG

29.00 1,000,000 460,000 518,000

200,000 200,000

Majan Glass Company SAOG

14.00 1,062,600 211,457 263,525

182,400 182,400
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7. Investments (continued)
Originated by bank

Government development bonds

2015

2014

RO

RO

21,594,637

21,783,668

Government development bonds carries interest rates ranging from 2.75% to 5.5%.

8. Staff housing loans
Staff housing loans are recoverable over periods of up to twenty years. A significant portion of the loans
is interest free while the others are charged at interest rates below the prevalent market rates for such
borrowings. The fair value of staff housing loans has been determined by using discounting cash flow
techniques using market rates currently offered for such facilities.

9. Receivable from Government
2015

2014

RO

RO

Ministry of Finance – Subsidy receivable

818,413

625,734

Ministry of Finance – Accrued subsidy

515,520

(125,618)

3,473,374

-

4,807,307

500,116

(579,822)

-

4,227,485

500,116

Ministry of Finance – Al Rafad management fees

Ministry of Finance – government soft loans

In accordance with Royal Decree No.18/2006, interest on loans and advances is subsidized by the
Government of the Sultanate of Oman. There was an error in the accrued subsidy balance as of 31
December 2014, as the nature of this account’s balance should be a debit balance representing the
amount of the unbilled government subsidy for the entire loans portfolio as of 31 December 2014,
however, the balance was a credit balance of RO 125,618 at that date. During the current year the
amount was corrected and the excess amount charged to Government in the past has been settled
with Ministry of Finance.

52

| ANNUAL REPORT 2015

ANNUAL REPORT 2015 |

53

34,943
34,943

-

At 1 January 2015
Charge for the year
Disposal
Adjustments
At 31 December 2015

Net carrying value
At 31 December 2015
At 31 December 2014

652,266
40,490
-

-

477,841
526,616

692,756
48,775
741,531

1,219,372
1,219,372
1,219,372

Buildings
RO

34,943
34,943
34,943

Land
RO

Cost
At 1 January 2014
Additions
Disposal
Transfers
At 1 January 2015
Additions
Disposal
Adjustments
At 31 December 2015
Depreciation
At 1 January 2014
Charge for the year
Disposal

10. Property and equipment

for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

Notes to the financial statements

234,068
232,813

332,752
90,740
(34,224)
1,754
391,022

321,187
74,081
(62,516)

529,689
98,400
(62,524)
565,565
97,050
(37,525)
625,090

Vehicles
RO

274,113
387,247

468,636
107,979
(16,003)
(21,550)
539,062

406,700
80,728
(18,792)

607,707
28,191
(18,834)
238,819
855,883
17,381
(15,705)
(44,384)
813,175

Furniture and
fixtures
RO

413,765
389,540

765,935
167,011
(5,620)
19,796
947,122

628,945
138,467
(1,477)

925,178
117,428
(1,480)
114,349
1,155,475
166,664
(5,636)
44,384
1,360,887

-

-

-

172,581
180,587
(353,168)
-

Office Capital workequipment
in-progress
RO
RO

1,434,730
1,571,159

2,260,079
414,505
(55,847)
2,618,737

2,009,098
333,766
(82,785)

3,489,470
424,606
(82,838)
3,831,238
281,095
(58,866)
4,053,467

Total
RO

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

10. Property and equipment (continued)
Land consists of five plots, out of which Buraimi and Salalah plots are jointly registered with the
Government of Oman.

11. Prepayments and other receivables
2015

2014

RO

RO

Customer relationship account receivables – net (note 11 .1)

92,108

90,107

Prepaid expenses

55,146

30,593

Staff loans

27,423

30,085

515,140

199,135

(2,606)

(2,398)

687,211

347,522

Total account receivables

324,037

326,597

Provision at 1 January

236,490

343,477

(4,561)

(72,556)

-

(34,431)

231,929

236,490

92,108

90,107

2015

2014

RO

RO

622,341

2,004,410

Other receivables
Provision against staff loans and other receivables

11.1 Customer relationship account receivables

(Reversal) / addition
Written off
Balance at 31 December
Customer relationship account receivables – net

12.Customer deposits (Izdihar)

Term deposits

The term deposits mature within one year and carrying interest rates ranging from 0.10 % - 1 % per
annum (2014: 0.10% - 1.75%) per annum.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

13. Payable to Government
2015

2014

RO

RO

-

14,640

1,575,602

2,059,053

1,575,602

2,073,693

99,074

152,739

Provision for leave salary, gratuity and air ticket

527,281

435,594

Provision for bonus

489,173

479,223

Payable to Al Rafad Fund (Note 15 - b)

3,009,596

-

Customers relationship accounts

1,602,820

777,152

40,000

40,000

1,854,814

1,525,761

7,622,758

3,410,469

Ministry of Finance
Al Rafad Fund - balance under reconciliation

14. Payables and accruals
Accrued expenses

Provision for directors’ remuneration
Other payables

15. Trust activities
The Bank acts as a trustee for the following funds:
(a) Agriculture and Fisheries Development Fund
The Bank acts as a trustee for the fund which is utilised for the development of agriculture and fisheries
sectors. The movement of the fund is as follows:
2015

2014

RO

RO

Balance at beginning of the year

7,114,823

6,236,180

Contribution from the Government of Oman

3,000,000

4,032,887

Interest received on balances held on behalf
of the fund in commercial banks
Payments made for development work
Bank balances at end of the year

127,042

114,705

(3,137,753)

(3,268,949)

7,104,112

7,114,823
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

15. Trust activities (continued)
(b) Al Rafad Fund (Sanad Fund)
The Bank acts as trustee for Al Rafad Fund (Sanad Fund). The movement of the fund is as follows:

Balance at beginning of the year
Contribution from the Government of Oman
Repayments received
Due from Oman Development Bank (Note 14)
Interest received on balances held on behalf
of the fund in commercial banks
Movement in balance under reconciliation
Payments made from the Fund
Bank balances at end of the year

2015

2014

RO

RO

1,230,538

1,382,667

35,000,000

23,500,000

4,610,788

3,399,360

(3,009,596)

-

8,234

4,661

483,450

(1,376,936)

(35,749,790)

(25,679,214)

2,573,624

1,230,538

These are not assets of the Bank and, therefore, are not included in the statement of financial position.
The balance under reconciliation as at 31 December 2015 was RO 1,575,602 (2014 – RO 2,059,053).

16.Share capital
2015

2014

RO

RO

Authorized share capital (100 million (2014 – 100 million)
ordinary shares of RO. 1 each)

100,000,000

100,000,000

Issued and fully paid (100 million (2014 – 100 million)
ordinary shares of RO. 1 each)

100,000,000

100,000,000

17.Legal reserve
The Legal Reserve, which is not available for distribution, is being accumulated in accordance with
Article 106 of the Commercial Companies Law of 1974. The annual appropriation shall be 10% of the
profit of the Bank until such time when the Legal Reserve amounts to at least one-third of the capital.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

18.Special reserve
In accordance with the Article of Association of the Bank, an amount could be transferred to a special
reserve at the discretion of annual general meeting. This reserve may be utilised to cover credit and
other losses.

19.Interest income

Loans and advances to customers
Cash and term deposits
Others

2015

2014

RO

RO

7,444,818

10,721,242

204,176

205,183

10,001

10,229

7,658,995

10,936,654

Interest income from loans and advances includes around RO 4.4 million (2014: RO 7.9 million)
represents government subsidy provided by Ministry of Finance to projects that obtained loans from
the Bank. The subsidy is only applicable on those projects which fulfil their obligations in repaying their
instalments, in the event of default the interest is fully charged on borrowers.

20.Fees, commission and other income

Fees and commission
Management fee – Al Rafad Fund
Bad debts recovered
Gain on sale of fixed assets
Other income

2015

2014

RO

RO

473,470

526,659

3,473,373

1,879,758

23,789

8,652

8,588

15,894

226,548

279,007

4,205,768

2,709,970
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

21.Investment income / (loss)
2015

2014

RO

RO

74,033

67,243

331,335

334,752

518,469

420,594

(188,117)

387,209

735,720

1,209,798

(340,567)

(1,348,009)

395,153

(138,211)

(6,326)

(33,336)

388,827

(171,547)

5,412,755

4,827,595

Realised income:
Income from available-for-sale investments
Dividend income
Income from held for trading investments
Dividend income
Income from originated investments
Interest income from Government Development Bonds
Income from held for trading investments
Profit on sale of investments
Total realised income
Unrealised income:
Change in fair value of investment held for trading

Portfolio manager charges

22.General and administrative expenses
Employees’ costs (Note 23)
Depreciation

414,505

333,766

Training expenses

209,047

204,968

Office expenses

221,371

235,955

Travelling and vehicle expenses

100,458

121,527

Communication costs

124,949

118,135

Rent

207,582

197,933

Board meeting expenses and sitting fees

28,200

31,250

Proposed directors’ remuneration

40,000

40,000

Professional fees

38,584

31,724

Fees and contribution to local institutes

38,611

39,740

Direct write-off of loans and advances

179,796

2,373

Miscellaneous expenses
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480,959

493,512

7,496,817

6,678,478

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

23.Employees costs
2015

2014

RO

RO

4,014,574

3,639,834

Bonus

924,329

846,461

Social security costs

355,838

277,871

Other benefits

118,014

63,429

5,412,755

4,827,595

Salaries and allowances

24.Taxation
The Bank is exempted from tax, in accordance with the Royal Decree 18/2006.

25.Related party transactions
In the ordinary course of business, the Bank conducts transactions with certain of its Directors. The
expenses in respect of related parties included in the financial statements are as follows:
2015

2014

RO

RO

Director’s sitting fees

28,200

31,250

Proposed director’s remuneration

40,000

40,000

Compensation of key management personnel
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling the activities of the Bank, directly or indirectly, including any Director (whether executive
or otherwise). Compensation of key management personnel during the year were as follows:

Salary and benefits to key management personnel

2015

2014

RO

RO

412,144

327,874

Receivables from and payables to related parties were disclosed in notes 9 and 13 respectively.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

26.Commitments and contingencies
The following summarises the significant commitments and contingencies as of December 31:

Loans and advances approved but not draw down
Commitments for acquisition of property and equipment
Letter of guarantees

2015

2014

RO

RO

23,350,106

22,088,643

-

13,705

1,454,091

2,370,305

The Bank guarantees the performance of customers by issuing guarantees to third parties in respect
of loans approved by the Bank. The risk involved is essentially the same as the credit risk involved in
extending loan facilities to customers and, therefore these transactions are subjected to the same credit
organisation, portfolio maintenance and collateral requirements as for customers applying for loans.
As the facilities sometimes expire without being drawn, the notional amounts do not necessary reflect
future cash requirements.
The credit risk of these facilities may be less than the notional amounts, but as it cannot be accurately
determined, the credit risk has been taken to be the contract or notional amount.
Contingent assets

Loans technical write-off

2015

2014

RO

RO

5,689,408

2,624,642

Technical write-of represents loans that had been written off from the Bank’s portfolio. Further, the Bank
continue to follow up with its customer in order to collect the outstanding balances.

27.Net assets value per share
Net assets value per share is calculated by dividing the net assets at the year-end by the number of
shares outstanding as follows:
2015

2014

Net assets (RO)

161,758,313

157,412,077

Number of shares outstanding at 31 December (Nos.)

100,000,000

100,000,000

1.618

1.574

Net assets value per share (RO)
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

28.Assets and liabilities maturity profile
31 December 2015
Maturities

Assets

Liability

Mismatch

RO

RO

RO

Less than 6 months

50,760,952

9,471,186

41,289,766

6 – 12 months

17,466,793

162,812

17,303,981

1 – 3 years

49,930,886

-

49,930,886

3 – 5 years

34,933,079

-

34,933,079

More than 5 years

18,487,304

161,945,016 (143,457,712)

171,579,014

171,579,014

-

Less than 6 months

44,845,049

6,571,731

38,273,318

6 – 12 months

13,712,050

315,519

13,396,531

1 – 3 years

52,449,732

-

52,449,732

3 – 5 years

33,585,598

-

33,585,598

More than 5 years

20,308,220

158,013,399

(137,705,179)

164,900,649

164,900,649

-

31 December 2014
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for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

29.Assets and liabilities re-pricing profile
Six months
Interest Less than
to twelve Over twelve
rate six months
months
months
2015

Noninterest
sensitive

Total

%

RO

RO

RO

RO

RO

1.5

-

-

50,000

90,054

140,054

Balances due from other
banks

1 24,075,586

-

-

1,333,196

25,408,782

Loans and advances to
customers

6 15,577,774 12,493,774

82,076,942

Assets
Cash and balances with
Central Bank of Oman

Investments

- 110,148,490

2.75 to 5.5

-

4,189,105

17,405,532

6,369,271

27,963,908

6

59,530

61,373

712,577

734,874

1,568,354

Received from
government

-

-

-

4,227,485

4,227,485

Property and equipment

-

-

-

1,434,730

1,434,730

Prepayment and other
receivables

-

-

-

687,211

687,211

Staff housing loans

Total assets

39,712,890 16,744,252 100,245,051

14,876,821 171,579,014

Liabilities
Customer deposits

390,588

231,753

-

-

622,341

Payable to Government

-

-

-

1,575,602

1,575,602

Payables and accruals

-

-

-

7,622,758

7,622,758

390,588

231,753

-

9,198,360

9,820,701

-

-

- 161,758,313 161,758,313

390,588

231,753

- 170,956,673 171,579,014

Total liabilities
Total shareholders’
funds
Total liabilities and
shareholders’ funds
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

29.Assets and liabilities re-pricing profile (continued)
Interest
rate

Less than
six months

Six months
to twelve
months

Over twelve
months

Non-interest
sensitive

Total

%

RO

RO

RO

RO

RO

1.5

-

-

50,000

65,905

115,905

Balances due from
other banks

1 22,597,711

-

-

536,675

23,134,386

Loans and advances to
customers

9 14,981,000 12,928,000

80,977,932

-

108,886,932

2014
Assets
Cash and balances with
Central Bank of Oman

Investments

2.75 to 5.5

-

-

21,783,668

7,081,890

28,865,558

5

11,964

11,964

219,680

1,235,463

1,479,071

Received from
government

-

-

-

500,116

500,116

Property and equipment

-

-

-

1,571,159

1,571,159

Prepayment and other
receivables

-

-

-

347,522

347,522

37,590,675 12,939,964

103,031,280

11,338,730

164,900,649

Staff housing loans

Total assets
Liabilities
Customer deposits

1,555,316

449,094

-

-

2,004,410

Payable to Government

-

-

-

2,073,693

2,073,693

Payables and accruals

-

-

-

3,410,469

3,410,469

1,555,316

449,094

-

5,484,162

7,488,572

-

-

- 157,412,077

157,412,077

1,555,316

449,094

- 162,896,239

164,900,649

Total liabilities
Total shareholders’
funds
Total liabilities and
shareholders’ funds

0.10 to 1.75
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for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

30.Basic and diluted earnings per share
Profit for the year (RO)
Weighted average number of shares on issue
Basic and diluted earnings per share (RO)

2015

2014

4,200,807

6,806,889

100,000,000

100,000,000

0.042

0.068

The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year by the weighted average
number of shares outstanding during the year.

31.Capital adequacy
The capital adequacy, calculated in accordance with the Bank for International Settlements guidelines,
was as follows:
2015

2014

RO

RO

162,937

158,670

137,211

130,651

9,605

14,162

25,356

24,746

Total risk weighted assets

172,172

169,559

Capital adequacy ratio

94.64%

93.58%

Capital base (Tier 1 & 2)
Risk weighted assets
Credit risk
Market risk
Operational risk

32.Employees terminal benefits
The Bank contributes to the Government of Oman Social Insurance Scheme, which is a defined
contribution retirement plan. During the year ended December 31, 2015 the Bank’s contribution
amounted to RO 355,838 (2014 - RO 277,871).
The provision for employee’s terminal benefits for non-Omani employees is made in accordance with
the requirements of Omani Labour Law. This is an un-funded defined benefits retirement plan and the
movements during the year is as follows:
2015
At January
Charge for the year
Paid during the year
At December

64

| ANNUAL REPORT 2015

2014

RO

RO

116,371

91,891

25,698

24,804

-

(324)

142,069

116,371

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

33.Fair value information
Off-financial position financial instruments
No fair value adjustment is made with respect to credit-related off-statement of financial position financial
instruments, which include commitments to extend credit, standby letters of credit and guarantees, as
the related future income streams materially reflect contractual fees and commissions actually charged
at the statement of financial position date for agreements of similar credit standing and maturity.
Foreign exchange contracts are valued based on market prices. The market value adjustments in
respect of foreign exchange contracts are included in Prepayments and Accruals.
Fair value versus carrying amounts
2014

2015
Fair value

Carrying
amount

Fair value

RO

RO

RO

744,938

744,938

381,061

381,061

24,803,898

24,803,898

22,869,230

22,869,230

110,148,490

110,148,490

108,886,932

108,886,932

Carrying
amount
RO

Assets
Cash and balances with
Central Bank of Oman
Balances due from other banks
Loans and advances to customers

27,963,908

27,963,908

28,865,558

28,865,558

Staff housing loans

Investments

1,568,354

1,189,311

1,479,071

1,027,100

Receivable from Government

4,227,485

4,227,485

500,116

500,116

687,211

687,211

347,522

347,522

622,341

622,341

2,004,410

2,004,410

Payable to Government

1,575,602

1,575,602

2,073,693

2,073,693

Payables and accruals

7,622,758

7,622,758

3,410,469

3,410,469

Prepayments and other receivables
Liabilities
Customer deposits

Interest rates used for determining fair value
The interest rates used to discount estimated cash flows, where applicable, are based on the government
yield curve at the reporting date plus an adequate credit spread, and were as follows:

Staff loans

2015

2014

6%

6%

ANNUAL REPORT 2015 |

65
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for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

34.Risk management
Oman Development Bank is owned by the Government of the Sultanate of Oman. It provides assistance
to development projects in the Sultanate of Oman by granting loans, administering grants and subsidies,
participating in share capital and providing technical assistance to companies. In accordance with its
objectives, interest on loans and advances is charged to customers at rates which are subsidised by
the Government.
The Bank’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including the effects of changes in interest
rates. The Bank borrows money from the Government and foreign financial institutions and local
commercial banks at both fixed and floating interest rates and for various periods and seeks to earn
above average interest margins by investing these funds. The Bank seeks to increase these margins
by consolidating short term funds and lending for longer periods at higher rates whilst maintaining
sufficient liquidity to meet all claims that might fall due.
Capital risk
The bank manages its capital to ensure that the bank will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The
bank’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2014.
The capital of the bank consists of equity attributable to shareholders of the bank comprising issued
capital, reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in the statement of changes in equity.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that the borrower of a loan fails to adhere to the terms of borrowing, causing the
Bank to suffer a loss in terms of cash flow or market value.
The Bank deals with creditworthy parties to lessen its risk on each individual credit exposure. The credit
worthiness of a party and the business viability of a project are assessed by the appropriate committee
before an exposure is undertaken. The Managers evaluate and monitor their respective portfolios and
are held responsible for follow up of credit/ follow up and recovery of defaulting clients.
Concentration of loans by economic sectors as shown in Note 6 to the financial statements, shows
the diversification of the loans, thereby reducing the possibilities of losses in the event of a reduction in
activity in one sector.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

34.Risk management (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
The below table details the bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account the value
of any collateral obtained, which represents the carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the
financial statements, net of impairment losses.

Loans and advances to customers

2015

2014

RO

RO

110,148,490

108,886,932

Staff housing loans

1,568,354

1,479,071

Receivable from Government

4,227,485

500,116

687,211

347,522

1,454,091

2,370,305

118,085,631

113,583,946

Prepayments and other receivables
Off financial position exposures - guarantees

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk an enterprise will face in obtaining funds to meet its obligations at any given time.
The Bank’s liquidity management policies are designed to ensure that even under adverse conditions
the Bank would be in a position to meet its obligations.
The Board of Directors and the management monitor the Bank’s liquidity requirements.
The Bank endeavours to obtain low cost borrowings either locally or internationally, on both a short and
long term basis to finance its loans, within guidelines stipulated by the Central Bank of Oman.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the sensitivity of the Bank’s financial condition to movements in interest rates. In
order to minimise this risk, the bank borrows locally, under arrangements which have a tenor of less
than six months.
Currency risk
The foreign currency risk is minimal as all the transactions are incurred in Rials Omani or United States
Dollar which is pegged to Rials Omani.
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for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

34.Risk management (continued)
Price risk
The Bank is exposed to equity price risks arising from equity investments. Equity investments are held
for strategic rather than trading purposes. The Bank does not actively trade these investments.
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks at the
reporting date. If equity prices had been 5% higher / lower:
•

The profit for the year would have decreased / increased by RO 240,128 (2014 - RO 283,030) as
a result of change in fair value of held for trading investments.

•

Change in fair value reserves would decreased / increased by RO 78,336 (2014 - RO 71,065) as
a result of the changes in fair value of available-for-sale investments.

35.Proposed dividend
No cash dividend has been proposed by the Board of Directors (2014: Nil).

36.Approval of financial statements
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue on March 13, 2016.
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BASEL II – PILLAR III & BASEL III
RELATED DISCLOSURES FOR
THE FULL YEAR 2015
1. Disclosure Policy
The bank has in place a “Disclosure Policy” approved by the Board of Directors. The policy is reviewable
periodically. The policy framework covers the extent of disclosures as well as the internal control processes
required to ensure that such disclosures are consistent and reliable.
The Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS) first issued measures to strengthen the Basel II
accord in 2009 (popularly known as Basel 2.5) and then issued a regulatory framework for increasing
the resilience of banks and the banking system in December 2010, which was revised in June 2011.This
framework is called Basel III.
The Basel Committee has since issued its rules text on “composition of capital disclosure requirements”.
This document is available at http://www.bis.org./publ/bcbs221.htm. Accordingly, Pillar 3 disclosure
requirements under Basel III are introduced for banks by the Central Bank of Oman. Banks are required to
comply with the disclosure requirements from the date of publication of their first set of financial statements
relating to a balance sheet date on or after June 30, 2013. In Oman, the roadmap for implementation of
Basel III has indicated that there would be a gradual phase-in of the standards beginning from 2013 until
2019.The higher capital requirements will be implemented gradually from 2013 through 2015. Further to
this, vide CBO letter dt. October 28, 2014, it has been decided to modify the Capital Conservation Buffer
and accordingly only 0.625% is to be provided as of 01-01-2015.
This document takes into account the requirements of Pillar 3 disclosure under Basel III.

2. Scope of Application (Subsidiaries/Groups)
a) Qualitative Disclosures
ODB is not a part of any group either as a member or as the top corporate entity in the group. The bank
does not hold investments in any of the other banks.
b) Quantitative Disclosures
The financial statements do not include consolidation of accounts of any other entities.
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Name of the entity (ies)

N.A.

Country of Incorporation

N.A.

Shareholding (%)

N.A.

Other Major Shareholders (Name and % shareholding

N.A

Main activity of the entity

N.A

Total assets

N.A.

Capital Adequacy Ratio(%) if applicable

N.A.

Shortfall in capital, if any, vis-à-vis the regulatory requirements.

N.A.
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3. Range of Disclosures
a) Capital Structure
i) Qualitative Disclosures
The Bank’s equity comprises of issued and fully paid up share capital, Legal/Statutory Reserves (created
by transferring 10% of yearly net profits-this reserve is not available for distribution), Special/Voluntary
Reserves (created by transferring portion of yearly net profit, as voluntary provision, to mitigate unexpected
increase of provision due to high growth of loan provision during previous years), Investment Revaluation
Reserves and Retained Earnings. The capital is fully contributed by the Ministry of Finance of the Sultanate
of Oman.
The Bank does not have any innovative, complex or hybrid capital instruments.
Extract from Disclosure template for main features of regulatory capital instruments
1

Issuer

Oman Development Bank SAOC

2

Unique identifier (eg CUSIP, ISIN or Bloomberg
identifier for private placement) 3

NA

3

Governing law(s) of the instrument Regulatory
treatment

Common Shares. Omani Companies Law

4

Transitional Basel III rules

Common Equity Tier 1

5

Post-transitional Basel III rules

Common Equity Tier 1

6

Eligible at solo/group/group & solo

Solo

7

Instrument type (types to be specified by each
jurisdiction)

Common Shares. Sultanate of Oman

8

Amount recognised in regulatory capital (Currency RO 100 million
in million, as of most recent reporting date)

9

Par value of instrument

RO 1 per share

10

Accounting classification

Shareholder’s Equity

11

Original date of issuance

2006

ii) Quantitative Disclosures
The table below has been extracted from ‘Basel III common disclosure template to be used during the
transition of regulatory adjustments (i.e. from 1 January 2013 to 1 January 2018)’ for the year ending
31-12-2015
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Sl. No. of
Disclosure
template

Elements of Regulatory Capital

Amount
(RO ‘000)

Common Equity Tier 1 capital: instruments and reserves
1

Directly issued qualifying common share capital

2

Retained earnings

48,818

3

Accumulated other comprehensive income (and other reserves)

12,122

4

Directly issued capital subject to phase out from CET1

0

Public sector capital injections grandfathered until 1 January 2018

0

5

Common share capital issued by subsidiaries and held by third parties
(amount allowed in group CET1)

0

6

Common Equity Tier 1 capital before regulatory adjustments

28

Total regulatory adjustments to Common equity Tier 1

29

Common Equity Tier 1 capital (CET1)

36

Additional Tier 1 capital before regulatory adjustments

0

43

Total regulatory adjustments to Additional Tier 1 capital

0

44

Additional Tier 1 capital (AT1)

0

45

Tier 1 capital (T1 = CET1 + AT1)

51

Tier 2 capital before regulatory adjustments

57

Total regulatory adjustments to Tier 2 capital

58

Tier 2 capital (T2)

59

Total capital (TC = T1 + T2)

162,938

60

Total risk weighted assets (60a+60b+60c)

172,172

60a

Of which: Credit risk weighted assets

137,211

60b

Of which: Market risk weighted assets

60c

Of which: Operational risk weighted assets

100,000

160,940
0
160,940

160,940
1,998
0
1,998

9,605
25,356

Capital Ratios
61

Common Equity Tier 1 (as a percentage of risk weighted assets)

93.5%

62

Tier 1 (as a percentage of risk weighted assets)

93.5%

63

Total capital (as a percentage of risk weighted assets)

94.6%

64

Institution specific buffer requirement (minimum CET1 requirement plus capital
conservation buffer plus countercyclical buffer requirements plus G-SIB/D-SIB
buffer requirement expressed as a percentage of risk weighted assets)

7.625%

65

of which: capital conservation buffer requirement

0.625%

66

of which: bank specific countercyclical buffer requirement

0%

67

of which: D-SIB/G-SIB buffer requirement

0%

68

Common Equity Tier 1 available to meet buffers (as a percentage of risk
weighted assets)

85.875%

National minima (if different from Basel III)

72

69

National Common Equity Tier 1 minimum ratio (if different from Basel 3
minimum)

7.625%

70

National Tier 1 minimum ratio (if different from Basel 3 minimum)

9.625%

71

National total capital minimum ratio (if different from Basel 3 minimum)

| ANNUAL REPORT 2015

12.625%

b) Capital Adequacy
i) Qualitative Disclosures
Summary Discussion:
The capital adequacy of the bank is being calculated every quarter, considering various types of Risks
(Credit, Market and Operational) and as per the guidelines of the Central Bank of Oman. The bank has
considered that level of capital is sufficient not only to meet future business plans but also to cushion any
unexpected losses. The bank has adopted Standardized Approach for assessing capital adequacy for
Credit and Market Risks and Basic Indicator Approach for Operational Risks.
Credit Risk:
For Credit Risk, Bank has assigned following Risk Weights:
•

100% for all Corporate and Retail exposures without regard to external ratings and without availing Risk
Weight of 75% allowed for Retail exposures meeting pre-defined criteria respectively.

•

150% Risk Weight for Net Unsecured Portion of all NPLs (net of specific provisions and reserve interest).

•

50% Risk Weight for Cash and Deposits with local banks.

•

20% Risk Weight for short term placement with local banks

•

0% Risk Weight for CBO Government Development Bonds.

•

100% Risk weight for Fixed Assets and all Other Assets.

•

100% Risk Weight for Guarantees issued to banks for establishing LCs/ LPOs on behalf of Bank’s
customers.

•

0% Risk Weight to off-balance sheet items, such as, Agriculture and Fisheries Development Fund,
Al Raffd Fund and SANAD Fund as the Bank acts as a Trustee for these items.

•

100% Risk Weight for all other unquoted Commercial Investments

•

50% Risk Weight for undrawn loan commitments with respect of loans approved

•

100% Risk Weight for commitments for acquisition of property and equipment

•

100% Risk Weight for financial guarantees issued to third parties with respect to approved loans.

•

CRM techniques for reduction in Risk Weighted Assets against collaterals have not been applied.

Market Risk:
Bank’s Trading Book comprises of only a small position in equities. Bank has assigned 8% Risk Weight for
Specific Risk and 8% Risk Weight for General Market Risk for the Equities held in the Trading Book.
Operational Risk:
For calculation of Capital Adequacy Ratio for Operational Risks, the bank has used average positive
Operating Profit for last three years (net interest income + other recurring income) excluding provisions
and operating expenses, staff expenses, depreciation and recoveries, profit/loss on sale of assets and
extraordinary items.
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ii) Quantitative Disclosures
a) Risk Weighted Assets (RO ‘000s)
Sl
No

Details

1

On-balance sheet items

2

Off-balance items

3

Derivatives

4

Total

Gross Balances
(Book Value)

Net Balances
(Book Value) *

Risk Weighted
Assets

182,396

168,686

159,770

23,350

23,350

12,402

0

0

0

205,745

192,036

172,172

* Net of Provisions, reserve interest and eligible collaterals

b) Capital
Sl No.

Details

(RO 000s)

1

Tier I Capital

160,940

2

Tier 2 Capital

4

Total Regulatory Capital

5

Capital Requirement for credit risk

16,465

6

Capital Requirement for market risk

1,153

7

Capital Requirement for operational risk

3,043

8

Total required capital

9

Tier I Ratio (as a percentage of risk weighted assets)

93.48%

10

Total Capital Ratio (as a percentage of risk weighted assets)

94.64%

1,998
162,938

20,661

c) Risk Exposure and Assessment
Credit Risk - General Disclosures
Qualitative Disclosures
i) Risk Management Objectives and policies
The Bank has established Risk Management Policy approved by Board of Directors (BOD). The primary
responsibility for ensuring that the risks are appropriately managed is with the BOD, which shall set and
approve the overall risk policies, limits, procedures and provide framework for Risk Management of the
Bank. The bank has set up an independent Risk Management Committee approved by the BOD to monitor
and review the implementation of risk management procedures approved by the Board. The formation and
the composition of the Risk Management Committee have been approved by the Central Bank of Oman.
The day-to-day management of risk, such as, identifying, monitoring, controlling, reporting, etc., lies with
the Risk Management Department and the line management. The risk policy addresses risks relevant to
areas of Credit, Market, Liquidity, and Operational Risks to which the bank is exposed.
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The Board of Directors has approved implementation of Integrated Risk Management Framework and Risk
Based Internal Audit and the bank is in the process of changing over to the framework.
Credit Risk:
The Risk Policy covers the management of various areas of Credit Risk, such as, maximum prudential
exposure limits, exposure concentrations, credit sanctioning, approval norms, facility tenors, loan
classification and provisioning norms, management of problem loans, credit origination, due diligence
process, target sectors, credit assessment and underwriting standards, collateral management, risk rating
framework, disbursals, monitoring and follow-up, credit reviews, pricing, reporting and post sanction loan
review. The Credit Committee/ Board of Directors assess the credit worthiness of parties and business
viability, before an exposure is approved. The exposures are monitored through periodic site visits as
well as system generated MIS reports. Proactive action is taken by respective managers for exposures
requiring remedial /recovery action.
With regard to income recognition, assets classification and provisioning requirements, the bank follows
the relevant guidelines of Central Bank of Oman, especially the circular No.BM 977. The bank considers an
asset or an exposure to be impaired if in its opinion the realizable value of the assets or the exposure is less
than the accounting carrying value. A past due exposure arises when the customer / counterparty fails to
meet the contractual obligation to the bank towards payment of interest or principal or part thereof on due
date. As per CBO norms, the bank considers an exposure (non- retail) as non-performing if it continues to
remain past due for a period of 90 days or more.
The bank does not grant any consumer loans. All ODB loans up to and RO 50,000 are categorized as
Retail Portfolio and loans above RO 50,000 are treated as Corporate Portfolio. (The maximum loan is RO
1 Million per project).
In the case of Retail as well as Corporate Portfolio, the bank uses the following ageing criteria to classify
impaired exposures. Exposures that are over 59 days past due but less than 90 days are classified as
specially mentioned. Exposure that are over 89 days past due but less than 180 days are classified as substandard. Exposures past due for 180 days up to 364 days are classified Doubtful and exposures past due
for 365 days or more are classified as Loss.
The bank makes two types of provisions – specific provisions (for sub-standard, doubtful and loss classified
exposure) and general provision (for specially mentioned and standard exposure), as per CBO norms.
The bank makes a provision of 25%, 50% and 100% for loans classified sub-standard, doubtful and loss
respectively, with a minimum cash provision of 25% and the balance cash provision, as appropriate, net of
eligible collateral. The bank makes general provision for retail loans (below and RO 50,000) @ 2% and @1%
for loans above RO 50,000 as per regulatory requirements. For the year, considering the economic situation,
CBO has directed banks to make additional provision of 15% of loan balances which are restructured
and are not classified as non-performing. Accordingly ODB has made this special specific provision in
respect of 6 loans. The additional provision made was RO 36,729. Subsequently CBO has permitted banks
to implement the 15% provision in phases; 10% in 2015 and the balance 5% in 2016. However, ODB
preferred to provide 15% specific provision from year 2015 itself and to be continued in year 2016 until
further directions from CBO.
The bank also calculates provision under IFRS requirements at the portfolio level. Under the CBO norms,
the requirement of provision was RO 8,832,561 (including reserve interest, but excluding general provision),
whereas as per IFRS requirement it was RO 8,603,653 as on 31-12-2015. The higher of the provision
requirement is taken.
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In addition, the bank has created a non-distributable special/voluntary reserve by transferring a part of
its profits in order to meet any future contingencies or sudden losses. This has been approved by bank’s
Annual General Body. The special reserve was RO 5.541 million as of 31-12-2014. As a prudent measure,
a portion of current year income may also be allocated to special reserve to meet future provisions required
for new lending of the bank, subject to approval of bank’s Annual General Body Meeting.
From 2009 onwards, the bank is lending short term specific working capital credit facilities. The provisioning
policy is same as that is adopted for existing term loans and is in line with CBO guidelines.
Market Risk:
The bank does not have a Trading Book comprising of debt securities, foreign exchange, commodities,
derivatives and other positions. The bank has Available-for Sale Equity Investments in the local market.
Operational Risk:
The Risk Policy deals with the various areas of Operational Risk. It covers procedures and controls to be
followed by each department, compliance functions, internal audit functions, policies and procedures for
managing human resources of the bank, money laundering, procedures for back-up and storage of data,
disaster recovery plan and security policies for access rights on the core banking system.
Banking Book Interest Rate Risk:
The interest rate risk in the banking book arises due to maturity / re-pricing mismatches of the assets
and liabilities in the banking book. Bank need to manage this risk by analyzing the residual contractual
maturities of all interest bearing assets and liabilities. Interest rate risk is managed by the Assets and
Liability cum Investment Committee of the bank.
Till 2008, the bank’s interest bearing assets (mainly project loans) were on the fixed rate terms (interest rate
of 9% p.a. including government subsidy), which were funded by its own capital and reserves. Therefore
there was no impact of Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book. During 2015, the Ministry of Finance
has decided to reduce interest subsidy by 3% effective from 01-01-2015. With this, the interest income
including government subsidy has become 6% for term loans.
The bank is lending working capital loans at variable rates (market rates). The bank is accepting Fixed Term
Deposits (FTDs) at market rates. These have necessitated monitoring of interest rate risks. The ALCO was
set up for the purpose of analyzing the situation and taking adequate measures to manage the risks and
bring in mitigations to prevent any negative impact on the profitability. The situation in the future will change
with increase in commercial borrowings and the bank will face interest rate risk.
Liquidity Risk:
Liquidity risk is the risk the bank will face in obtaining funds to meet its obligations at any given time. The
bank’s liquidity management policies are designed to ensure that even under adverse conditions the bank
would be in a position to meet its obligations. Liquidity Risk is managed by the Assets and Liability Cum
Investment Committee which analyzes the Asset and Liability mismatches and ensures a positive gap.
From June 2009, the bank has started collecting fixed term Deposits from customers with the approval of
Central Bank of Oman. The bank is also working towards mobilizing resources through long term Bonds as
and when the need arises. The aim is to raise the funds for working capital lending by fixed term deposits and
find resources for long term loans from equity and long term bonds. However, as and when the bank resorts
to commercial borrowings for funding assets the bank might face liquidity risk, like any financial intermediary
institutions. The management is aware of the risk and will actively pursue steps to mitigate this risk.
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d) Equity:
Quoted Equity Investments are measured at market value. Unquoted investments are recognized at cost
and carried at fair value. These investments are managed under the guidance of the Asset and Liabilities
cum Investment Committee.
Quantitative Disclosures
ii) Total gross credit risk exposures, plus average gross exposures over the period broken down by major
types of credit exposure
										Amount (RO.000s)
Sl. No Type of Credit Exposure

1

Overdraft

2

Staff Loan (Personal)

3

WC- Loans +LTR+ Pre-shipment
Loans

4

Other Loans (Term Loans)

5

Bills Purchased / Discounted

6

Any Other (Staff Housing Loan)

7

Total

Average Gross Exposure

Total Gross Exposure

Current Year

Previous Year

31 Dec
2015

31-Dec2014

28

26

29

26

4,133

3,884

3,941

4,324

117,285

118,698

116,706

117,864

0
1,555

1,568

1,568

1,541

123,000

124,063

122,244

123,754

iii) Geographic distribution of exposures, broken down in significant areas by major types of credit
exposure(RO.000s)
Sl
No

Type of Credit
Exposure

Oman
(1)

Other
OECD
GCC
India
Countries*
countries
(2)

(3)

(4)

Pakistan Others
(5)

(6)

Total
(7)

1

Overdraft

0

0

2

Personal Loans (Staff
Loan)

29

29

3

WC- Loans +LTR+
Pre-shipment Loans

3,941

3,941

4

Other Loans (Term
Loans)

116,706

116,706

5

Bills Purchased /
Discounted

6

Any Other (Staff
Housing Loan)

1,568

1,568

7

Total

122,244

122,244

* excluding countries included in column 2 (includes staff personal loans and staff Housing Loans)
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iv) Industry or counterparty type distribution of exposures, broken down by major types of credit exposure.
(RO.000s)
Sl.
No.

Economic Sector

Overdraft

Term
WC loans
Loans

Others

Total

Off B/S
Exposure

25,678

4,670

1

Import Trade

2

Export Trade

3

Wholesale & Retail Trade

4

Mining & Quarrying

5

Construction

6

Manufacturing

7

Electricity, Gas and Water

8

Transport &
Communication

9

Financial Institutions

10

Services

0

11

Personal Loans (Staff loan)

0

12

Agriculture & Allied
activities

0

13

Government

0

14

Non-Resident Lending

0

15

All others (Staff Housing
Loan & Ex Staff Housing
Loan)

0

242

16

Total

0

116,706

0

23,389

2,289

0
0

14,111

914

15,025

3,035

0
0

5,718

0

5,718

934

0
32,761

338

33,099
29

40,486

400

3,941

10,975

29
40,886

1,568

1,810

1,597

122,244

3,736

23,350

v) Residual contractual maturity breakdown of whole portfolio, broken down by major types of credit
exposure (RO.000s).
Sl.
No.

78

Time Band

Overdraft

Term
Loans

WC loans

Others

Total

Off B/S
Exposure

1

Up to 1 month

0

9,253

1,250

39

10,542

3,502

2

1- 3 months

0

4,004

1,763

20

5,787

2,101

3

3-6 months

0

6,269

909

31

7,209

4,670

4

6-9 months

0

6,481

19

31

6,531

3,036

5

9-12 months

0

6,882

31

6,913

4,673

6

1-3 years

0

45,105

340

45,445

5,368

7

3-5 years

0

26,745

373

27,118

8

Over 5 years

0

11,967

732

9

Total
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116,706

3,941

1,597

122,244

23,350

vi) By major industry or counter party type: (RO.000s)
Sl.
No.

Economic
Sectors

1

Import Trade

2

Export Trade

3

Wholesale&
Retail Trade

4

Mining&
Quarrying

5

Construction

6

Manufacturing

7

Electricity, Gas
and Water

8

Transport&
Communication

9

Financial
Institutions

10

Services

11

Personal
Loans(staff)

12

Agriculture&
Allied
Activities

13

Government

14

Non-Resident
Lending

15

All others(Staff
Housing Loan

16

Total

Gross
Loans

Of General Specific Reserve Provision Advances
which Provision Provision Interest
made Written off
NPLs
Held
Held
during during the
the year
year

25,678

2,292

304

965

367

127

3,039

15,024

1,918

197

727

395

162

777

5,718

687

87

376

50

40

0

33,099

4,344

336

1,512

1,913

-3

0

40,886

4,357

702

2,125

341

189

30

1,839

101

3

63

38

32

122,244

13,699

1,629

5,768

3,103

548

3,846

*Provision made, less provision released. There is net provision made to the extent of RO 548 K during 2015.
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vii) Amount of impaired loans, if available, past due loans provided separately broken down significant
geographic areas including if practical the amounts of specific and general allowances related to each
geographical area. (RO. 000s)
Sl.
No.

Countries

1

Oman

2

Gross
Loans

Of
General
Specific Reserve
which Provisions Provisions Interest
NPLs
Held
Held

Provisions Advances
made
Written
during the Off during
year
the year

122,244

13,699

1,629

5,768

3,103

548

3,846

Other GCC
countries

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

3

OECD
countries

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

4

India

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

5

Pakistan

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

6

Others

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

7

Total

122,244

13,699

1,629

5,768

3,103

548

3,846

viii) Movement on Gross Loans
ODB has been submitting BOSS reports from June 2008, after the implementation of the new core banking
system.
Movement of Gross Loans during the quarter ending 31/12/2015 - (RO ‘000)
Sl. No. Details

Performing Loans

Non-Performing Loans

Standard

S.M

SubStandard

Doubtful

Loss

99,940

5,531

4,769

2,199

9,153

121,592

-309

520

-1,788

732

845

0

1

Opening Balance

2

Migration/changes (+/-)

3

New Loans

15,377

3,867

5,919

1,836

504

27,503

4

Recovery of Loans

12,339

5,636

5,805

2,338

1,561

27,679

5

Loans written off

769

769

6

Closing Balance

102,669

7

Provision Held *

37

8

Reserve Interest

4,282

3,095

2,429

8,172

120,647

764

989

3,978

5,768

39

54

3,008

3,101

* Indicate the general provisions held under performing loans and specific provisions under non-performing loans.
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e) Credit Risk: Disclosures for Portfolios subject to the Standardized Approach
Qualitative Disclosures
a) For portfolio under standardized approach, bank has not used assessments by External Credit
Assessment Institutions (ECAIs) for claims on corporates and banks, but has instead used 100% risk
weight for them considering the nature of Bank’s operations and size.
b) Quantitative Disclosures
c) The bank has not reduced exposure / applied risk mitigation based on external (ECAI) ratings.
f) Credit Risk Mitigation: Disclosures for Standardization Approaches
Qualitative Disclosures
a) The bank has not used Credit Risk Mitigation through collaterals for reducing the Risk Weighted Assets.
b) The bank has not used on and off-balance sheet netting.
c) The bank has a Collateral Policy, which covers types of eligible collaterals, valuation, maintenance
procedures and management. In accepting collaterals, the bank considers the ease of enforceability,
and liquidity for tangible collaterals as well as creditworthiness and financial strength of guarantors. The
bank makes an endeavor to avoid concentration of collaterals (credit and market) as far as possible.
While accepting collaterals the bank evaluates the correlation, if any, between the value of collateral and
the credit quality of the counterparty.
d) The bank endeavor’s to obtain acceptable collateral cover for its exposures as far as commercially
practicable. The primary collateral for loan exposures is project assets financed by the bank. However,
where feasible and required, the bank accepts other collaterals to mitigate the credit risk. The eligible
collaterals include Pledge of Cash/ Deposit, Bonds& Shares; Bank Guarantees, Mortgage over Real
Estate, Commercial Charge over Assets, Joint Registration over Assets, Personal / Corporate Guarantees,
Assignment of Insurance Policies (Life/ Fire, etc.).
e) These collaterals are integrated in internal risk rating model to quantify the risk and assess the Loss Given
Default (LGD)
f) Collaterals, such as, real estate and shares are valued periodically. Values of Shares are updated based
on the latest market value. Real estate is valued by reputed valuers every three years.
g) Documentation for perfection of security interest in the collateral is verified by the legal department. The
security documentation is maintained in fire proof cabinets.
h) The bank periodically checks and updates the documentation and ensures continuity of enforceability by
keeping the related documents (life insurance, fire insurance, etc.) up to date.
Quantitative Disclosures
The bank has not used Credit Mitigation for reducing the Risk Weighted Assets.
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g) Market Risk in Trading Book: Disclosures for Banks using the Standardized duration Approach
Qualitative Disclosures
a) As far as the Market Risk is concerned, Bank’s Trading Book comprises of only a small position in
equities. The bank is not exposed to commodity risk and foreign exchange risk as it neither deals in
commodities nor in foreign currencies. Bank has assigned 8% Risk Weight for Specific Risk and 8% Risk
Weight for Market Risk for the Equities held in the trading Book.
Quantitative Disclosures
a) The capital requirement of Equity Position Risk is the following:
Market Value of
Equity
(RO 000s)

(A)
Specific
Risk (8%)

(B)
General Market
Risk (8%)

(C)
RWA
[(A) + (B)]*12.5

Capital
Requirement
[12% of (C)]

4,803

384

384

9,605

1,153

h) Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book (IRRBB)
Qualitative Disclosure
a) Till 2008, the bank’s interest bearing assets (mainly project loans) were on the fixed rate terms (interest
rate of 9% p.a. including government subsidy), which were funded by its own capital and reserves.
Therefore there was no impact of Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book. During 2015, the Ministry of
Finance has decided to reduce interest subsidy by 3% effective from 01-01-2015. With this, the interest
income including government subsidy has become 6%. In 2009, the bank had resorted to short term
borrowings from banks to meet short term needs. With the injection of fresh equity, there was no much
impact on the profitability. During the later years, the bank has not availed bank borrowings due to
infusion of additional share capital.
b) From 2009, the bank started disbursing working capital loans at variable rates (market rates) to its
existing clients in a small way. The bank also started accepting Fixed Term Deposits (FTDs) at market
rates. These have necessitated monitoring of interest rate risks. The situation in the future will change
with increase in commercial borrowings and the bank will face interest rate risk. The ALCO set up for the
purpose of analyzing the situation and taking adequate measures to manage the risks will bring in any
mitigation to prevent negative impact on the profitability.
Quantitative Disclosure
As mentioned above, there was no impact of upward or downward rate shock as interest bearing assets
were at fixed rates and the bank funded its asset portfolio mostly from its own capital and reserves. In the
coming 2- 3 years, the bank will be able to operate with own equity and the bank’s cost of fund is expected
to be higher in later years if costly funds are raised, This will impact profitability.
As of 31/12/2015, the bank has outstanding fixed term deposits liability of RO 0.622 Million. The weighted
average rate of interest as of 31/12/2015 is 0.92% p.a.
As of 31/12/2015, there are no outstanding bank borrowings.
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i) Liquidity Risk
Qualitative Disclosure
a) Liquidity Risk is managed by the Assets and Liability cum Investment Committee of the bank. Asset
Liability mismatches are analyzed and a positive gap is ensured. As all long term assets of the bank
were funded by Equity plus reserves and there was no Liquidity Risk arising out of Asset and Liabilities
mismatches.
b) During the year 2009, to manage short term liquidity, the bank did resort to short term interbank
borrowings. The bank has also started collecting fixed term Deposits from the customers with the
approval of Central Bank of Oman. The bank will consider mobilizing resources through long term Bonds
when the need arises. The aim is to raise the funds for working capital lending by fixed term deposits
and find resources for long term loans from equity and long term bonds. However, as and when the bank
resorts to commercial borrowings for funding assets, the bank will face liquidity risk. The management is
aware of the risk and will actively pursue steps to mitigate them.
Quantitative Disclosure
As mentioned above, there was no impact of liquidity risk arising out of mismatches in assets and liabilities
as all assets were mostly funded by the bank’s equity. As of 31/12/2015, the deposits outstanding in the
bank are worth RO 0.622 Million. However, there was no outstanding bank borrowing as of that date.
j) Operational Risk
Qualitative Disclosure
The Risk Policy of the bank specifies the policies relating to Operational Risks and covers areas, such as,
Human Resources, IT, Operational Procedures, Compliance, Internal Audit, Money Laundering, etc.
The bank has used the Basic Indicator Approach for calculating the capital adequacy for Operational Risk.
The bank has considered average positive Gross Income for last three years. The Gross Income is the
aggregate of Net Interest Income and non-interest Income and excludes extra ordinary income and realized
profit on Held to Maturity or Available for Sale investments. The Gross Income also excludes provisions and
operating expenses and also staff expenses, depreciation and recoveries.
There are no major regulatory/supervisory actions taken against the bank during the year. No penalties have
been imposed.

4. Overview and Conclusion
The bank’s BIS capital adequacy ratio was % at as at the end of December 2015, as against a minimum of
12.625% (including capital conservation buffer under Basel III) required by regulatory authorities.
Against the CBO stipulation of CET1, Tier 1 and Total Capital levels of 7.625%, 9.625% and 12.625%
respectively, the actual ratios as of 31-12-2015 are 93.5 %, 93.5 % and 94.6% respectively.
The bank has created and implemented a risk management control and evaluation system that is responsive
to current requirements, is compliant with Basel II requirements of Central Bank of Oman and generally
meets the objectives for the complexity and size of the bank.
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